MULTIPLE ORTHOGONAL POLYNOMIALS, d-ORTHOGONAL POLYNOMIALS, PRODUCTION MATRICES, AND BRANCHED CONTINUED FRACTIONS

ALAN D. SOKAL

ABSTRACT. I analyze an unexpected connection between multiple orthogonal polynomials, d-orthogonal polynomials, production matrices and branched continued fractions. This work can be viewed as a partial extension of Viennot's combinatorial theory of orthogonal polynomials to the case where the production matrix is lower-Hessenberg but is not necessarily tridiagonal.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	762
2.	Preliminaries	764
3.	Production matrix for a sequence of monic polynomials	775
4.	Sequence of monic polynomials orthogonal to a sequence of linea	r
	functionals	782
5.	Application to ordinary orthogonal polynomials	784
6.	Application to multiple orthogonal polynomials	786
7.	Some Examples	787
Appendix A. LU factorization for matrices over a commutative ring:		Proof
	of Proposition 4.3	791
Acknowledgments		792
References		793

1. INTRODUCTION

The goal of this paper is to point out, and then analyze in detail, an unexpected connection between multiple orthogonal polynomials and d-orthogonal polynomials on the one hand, and production matrices and branched continued fractions on the other—objects that arose over the past few decades in the special-functions and enumerative-combinatorics communities, respectively. It is appropriate to begin, therefore, by explaining briefly each of these four concepts.

Multiple orthogonal polynomials [5, 51, 75] [36, Chapter 23] are a generalization of conventional orthogonal polynomials [14, 36, 72] in which the polynomials satisfy

Received by the editors April 25, 2022, and, in revised form, September 9, 2022.

²⁰²⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 42C05; Secondary 05A15, 05A19, 15A24, 15A99, 15B99, 30B70, 30E05, 33C45, 41A21.

Key words and phrases. Multiple orthogonal polynomial, d-orthogonal polynomial, production matrix, branched continued fraction, lower-Hessenberg matrix, Łukasiewicz path.

This research was supported in part by the U.K. Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council grant EP/N025636/1.

orthogonality relations with respect to several measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r rather than just one. Multiple orthogonal polynomials first arose in Hermite–Padé approximation [52, Chapter 4] [73]; they have applications to number theory [67, 68, 74], random matrices [42–44] and nonintersecting random paths [41–43], among other fields. See Section 2.1 for a brief summary.

Closely related to multiple orthogonal polynomials are the so-called *d*-orthogonal polynomials. A sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials is said to be *d*-orthogonal [50,77] with respect to a sequence $\Gamma_0, \ldots, \Gamma_{d-1}$ of linear forms in case $\Gamma_k(x^{\ell}P_n(x)) = 0$ whenever $n > d\ell + k$. (To avoid trivialities, it is also usually required that $\Gamma_k(x^{\ell}P_n(x)) \neq 0$ when $n = d\ell + k$.) For d = 1 this reduces to the ordinary concept of orthogonality. It turns out that the sequence of multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II taken along the so-called stepline is *d*-orthogonal (for d = r) with respect to the linear forms associated to the measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r .

Production matrices [23, 24] have become in recent years an important tool in enumerative combinatorics (see Section 2.2 for a brief summary). In the special case of a tridiagonal production matrix, this construction goes back to Stieltjes' [70,71] work on continued fractions: the production matrix of a classical S-fraction or J-fraction is tridiagonal. Moreover, the classical J-fraction and tridiagonal production matrix associated to the moment sequence of a measure μ are closely related to the sequence of orthogonal polynomials associated to μ . This connection was comprehensively investigated by Viennot [80,81] in the early 1980s, who developed a general combinatorial theory of orthogonal polynomials, building on Flajolet's [31] combinatorial theory of continued fractions. Our work here can be viewed as a partial extension of Viennot's theory to the case where the production matrix is lower-Hessenberg (i.e. vanishes above the first superdiagonal) but is not necessarily tridiagonal. Indeed, this extension was already begun by Viennot himself [80, sections III.5 and V.6].

Various types of branched continued fractions have been introduced in the analysis literature [10, 11, 22] [49, pp. 274–280, 285] [20, p. 28], but we are not concerned here with these. Rather, we are concerned with the branched continued fractions that have been introduced by combinatorialists and whose Taylor coefficients are the generating polynomials for selected types of lattice paths, generalizing the work of Flajolet [31] on classical continued fractions. This investigation was also initiated by Viennot [80, section V.6], who briefly considered the branched continued fractions (fractions multicontinuées) generated by Lukasiewicz paths. This work was carried forward in the Ph.D. theses of Roblet [59] and Varvak [78]. Further applications were made by Gouyou-Beauchamps [33] and Drake [28]. Subsequently, Albenque and Bouttier [4] introduced the branched continued fractions generated by m-Dyck paths and proved many interesting results about them. Most recently, Pétréolle, Sokal and Zhu [56] carried out a comprehensive analysis of the branched continued fractions associated to *m*-Dyck, *m*-Schröder and Łukasiewicz paths, with emphasis on questions related to total positivity; see also [21,55] for further applications. For these branched continued fractions, the production matrix is lower-Hessenberg but not (except in the classical cases) tridiagonal. See Section 2.4 for a brief summary.

Finally, let us mention the remarkable Ph.D. thesis of Drake [27], who initiated the combinatorial theory of multiple orthogonal polynomials and who foresaw the link with branched continued fractions [27, p. 1]. Our work here can be viewed as an extension, and to some extent a completion, of his. Throughout this paper, we fix a commutative ring (with identity element $1 \neq 0$) R: we will use sequences and matrices with entries in R, and polynomials and formal power series with coefficients in R. The analyst reader should feel free to imagine, without too much loss of generality, that $R = \mathbb{R}$. However, in applications of this formalism there will often be parameters, and we will usually prefer to treat these parameters as algebraic indeterminates $\boldsymbol{\xi}$; then R will be either the ring $\mathbb{R}[\boldsymbol{\xi}]$ of polynomials in these indeterminates or the field $\mathbb{R}(\boldsymbol{\xi})$ of rational functions in these indeterminates.

In particular, to any (positive or signed) measure μ on \mathbb{R} that has finite moments of all orders, there is canonically associated a linear functional \mathcal{L} on the polynomial ring $\mathbb{R}[x]$, defined by $\mathcal{L}(x^n) = \int x^n d\mu(x)$. It is well known [14] that the theory of orthogonal polynomials (or at least the simplest parts of it) can be expressed entirely in terms of this linear functional—or equivalently, in terms of the sequence of moments $a_n = \mathcal{L}(x^n)$ —without reference to the measure μ . We shall adopt this approach here, and also replace \mathbb{R} by an arbitrary commutative ring \mathbb{R} .

The plan of this paper is as follows: In Section 2 we collect some basic definitions and facts concerning multiple orthogonal polynomials, production matrices and branched continued fractions. In Section 3 we use the theory of production matrices to demonstrate some very simple relations between sequences of monic polynomials, the linear recurrences they satisfy, and their dual sequences of linear functionals. We also generalize Viennot's [80] formula for the expectation of products of orthogonal polynomials. In Section 4 we analyze sequences of monic polynomials that are orthogonal to a sequence of linear functionals. In Section 5 we show how this theory applies to ordinary orthogonal polynomials, and in Section 6 we apply it to multiple orthogonal polynomials. Finally, in Section 7 we examine some concrete examples. In the Appendix we prove a basic result concerning LU factorization for matrices over a commutative ring.

2. Preliminaries

In this section we provide a brief introduction to multiple orthogonal polynomials [5,51,75] [36, Chapter 23], production matrices [23,24,56,65], and branched continued fractions [56]. The reader familiar with one or more of these topics can skim those parts quickly, with the main aim of fixing the notation.

2.1. Multiple orthogonal polynomials. We begin by giving a brief introduction to the theory of multiple orthogonal polynomials, following [36, Chapter 23] but making a few comments about "algebraizing" the theory to allow coefficients in an arbitrary commutative ring R. We limit attention to the multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II, since these are the only ones that will arise in the remainder of the paper. (I leave it to others to investigate whether there is any analogue of the connections discussed here for the multiple orthogonal polynomials of type I.)

Fix an integer $r \geq 1$, and let μ_1, \ldots, μ_r be positive measures on the real line with finite moments of all orders. We use multi-indices $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \ldots, n_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$ and write $|\mathbf{n}| = n_1 + \ldots + n_r$. The **multiple orthogonal polynomial of type II** for the multi-index \mathbf{n} is the degree- $|\mathbf{n}|$ monic polynomial $P_{\mathbf{n}}(x) = x^{|\mathbf{n}|} + \ldots$ satisfying the orthogonality relations

(2.1)
$$\int x^k P_{\mathbf{n}}(x) d\mu_j(x) = 0 \text{ for all } 1 \le j \le r \text{ and } 0 \le k \le n_j - 1,$$

whenever such a polynomial exists and is unique. The equations (2.1) give a system of $|\mathbf{n}|$ linear equations for the $|\mathbf{n}|$ non-leading coefficients of the polynomial $P_{\mathbf{n}}(x)$; the multi-index \mathbf{n} is said to be *normal* whenever the solution exists and is unique. Note that the coefficient matrix of this system is the transpose of the $|\mathbf{n}| \times |\mathbf{n}|$ matrix

(2.2)
$$\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{n}} = \begin{pmatrix} H_{|\mathbf{n}|,n_1}^{(1)} & H_{|\mathbf{n}|,n_2}^{(2)} & \cdots & H_{|\mathbf{n}|,n_r}^{(r)} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $H_{M,N}^{(j)}$ is the $M \times N$ Hankel matrix of the moments of μ_j : that is, $H_{M,N}^{(j)} = (m_{r+s}^{(j)})_{0 \le r \le M-1, 0 \le s \le N-1}$ where

(2.3)
$$m_k^{(j)} = \int x^k \, d\mu_j(x).$$

Therefore, the multi-index **n** is normal if and only if det $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{n}} \neq 0$.

A system of measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r is said to be *perfect* in case all $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ are normal. Several general sufficient conditions for a system to be perfect are known (Angelesco systems, AT systems, Nikishin systems, ...): see [36, Chapter 23] [75]. We shall henceforth restrict attention to perfect systems.

The orthogonality conditions (2.1) can be trivially re-expressed in terms of the linear forms $\mathcal{L}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}^{(r)}$ associated to the measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r , which are defined by $\mathcal{L}^{(j)}(x^n) = \int x^n d\mu_j(x)$: it suffices to replace $m_k^{(j)}$ by $\mathcal{L}^{(j)}(x^k)$. Moreover, from this point of view, the measures μ_j need not be positive measures; indeed, the linear forms $\mathcal{L}^{(j)}$ need not come from (signed) measures at all. Provided that one can show, one way or another, that all $\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r$ are normal, the multiple orthogonal polynomials are well-defined.

Having done this, we can go farther and "algebraize" the theory by considering polynomials with coefficients in an arbitrary commutative ring (with identity element $1 \neq 0$) R, rather than just $R = \mathbb{R}$. We fix linear forms $\mathcal{L}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}^{(r)}$ on the polynomial ring R[x], and define "moments" $m_k^{(j)} = \mathcal{L}^{(j)}(x^k)$; then the multi-index **n** is normal if and only if det $\mathcal{M}_{\mathbf{n}}$ is an invertible element of the ring R.

Let us now make a simple but important observation. Fix a multi-index $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \ldots, n_r) \in \mathbb{N}^r$, and suppose that the polynomial $P_{\mathbf{n}}(x)$ satisfies the orthogonality relations (2.1) with respect to some family of (not necessarily positive) measures $\boldsymbol{\mu} = (\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r)$. Then $P_{\mathbf{n}}(x)$ also satisfies the orthogonality relations (2.1) with respect to any family of (not necessarily positive) measures $\boldsymbol{\mu}' = (\mu'_1, \ldots, \mu'_r)$ where μ'_i is any linear combination of $\{\mu_j: n_j \ge n_i\}$. In particular, if $n_1 \ge n_2 \ge \ldots \ge n_r$, then we can take $\mu'_i = \sum_{j=1}^i c_{ij}\mu_j$ for any lower-triangular matrix $C = (c_{ij})_{1 \le i,j \le r}$. That is, μ'_i is an arbitrary linear combination of μ_1, \ldots, μ_i . This observation will play an important role in what follows (see Section 4 ff.).

The collection $(P_{\mathbf{n}}(x))_{\mathbf{n}\in\mathbb{N}^r}$ of (monic) multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II satisfies a variety of recurrences, generalizing the well-known three-term recurrence for conventional orthogonal polynomials. Here is one [36, Theorem 23.1.7 *et seq.*]: We denote by \mathbf{e}_k the multi-index with entry 1 in position k and 0 elsewhere. For a permutation π of $\{1, \ldots, r\}$, we write $\mathbf{s}_j^{(\pi)} = \mathbf{e}_{\pi(1)} + \mathbf{e}_{\pi(2)} + \ldots + \mathbf{e}_{\pi(j)}$ for $1 \leq j \leq r$. Then there exist real numbers $a_{\mathbf{n},0}^{(k)}$ ($\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r$, $1 \leq k \leq r$) and $a_{\mathbf{n},j}^{(\pi)}$ ($\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r$, $\pi \in \mathfrak{S}_r$, $1 \leq j \leq r$) such that

(2.4)
$$xP_{\mathbf{n}}(x) = P_{\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{e}_{k}}(x) + a_{\mathbf{n},0}^{(k)}P_{\mathbf{n}}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{r} a_{\mathbf{n},j}^{(\pi)}P_{\mathbf{n}-\mathbf{s}_{j}^{(\pi)}}(x),$$

with the convention that $P_{\mathbf{n}-\mathbf{s}_{j}^{(\pi)}}(x) = 0$ whenever one or more of the entries in $\mathbf{n} - \mathbf{s}_{j}^{(\pi)}$ is negative. (Note that the coefficients $a_{\mathbf{n},j}^{(\pi)}$ do not depend on k, and the coefficients $a_{\mathbf{n},0}^{(k)}$ do not depend on π . But we will never use this fact.)

Now let j_1, j_2, \ldots be an infinite sequence of elements of $\{1, \ldots, r\}$, and define a sequence $(\mathbf{n}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of multi-indices in \mathbb{N}^r by $\mathbf{n}_k = \sum_{i=1}^k \mathbf{e}_{j_i}$. These multi-indices satisfy $|\mathbf{n}_k| = k$ and describe an increasing nearest-neighbor path in \mathbb{N}^r in which the *i*th step is along direction j_i . Now let $\widehat{P}_k(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} P_{\mathbf{n}_k}(x)$ be the multiple orthogonal polynomial of type II along this path in \mathbb{N}^r . It then follows from (2.4) that the singly-indexed sequence $(\widehat{P}_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ satisfies an (r+2)-term recurrence of the form

(2.5)
$$x\widehat{P}_{n}(x) = \sum_{k=n-r}^{n+1} \pi_{nk}\widehat{P}_{k}(x),$$

where $\pi_{n,n+1} = 1$ and $\pi_{nk} = 0$ for k < 0; of course the coefficients π_{nk} depend on the choice of nearest-neighbor path. The recurrence (2.5) will play a central role in the remainder of this paper. Please observe that the coefficients π_{nk} in this recurrence can be collected into a matrix $\Pi = (\pi_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ that is unit-lower-Hessenberg and (r, 1)-banded: that is, $\pi_{nk} = 0$ if k > n + 1 or k < n - r, and $\pi_{n,n+1} = 1$.

A particularly important role is played by the multi-indices $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, \ldots, n_r)$ lying on the **stepline**: this is the near-diagonal sequence starting at $(0, 0, \ldots, 0)$ and following the path $(n, n, \ldots, n) \to (n + 1, n, \ldots, n) \to (n + 1, n + 1, \ldots, n) \to \ldots \to (n + 1, n + 1, \ldots, n + 1) \to \ldots$ In other words, we define a singly-indexed sequence $(\tilde{P}_n(x))_{n>0}$ by

(2.6)
$$\widetilde{P}_n(x) = P_{(n_1,\dots,n_r)}(x) \text{ where } n_i := \left\lfloor \frac{n+r-i}{r} \right\rfloor \text{for } 1 \le i \le r$$

The stepline polynomials $(\tilde{P}_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ are a special case of the nearest-neighbor-path polynomials $(\hat{P}_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$, so they satisfy an (r+2)-term recurrence of the form (2.5).

2.2. **Production matrices.** In this subsection we give a brief introduction to the theory of production matrices [23, 24]; see also [65] [56, sections 8.1 and 9.2] for further discussion. In the general theory, the production matrix can be any row-finite or column-finite matrix. Here, however, we shall restrict attention to production matrices that are unit-lower-Hessenberg. Also, in the general theory the production matrix is usually called P; but here we shall call it Π in order to avoid confusion with the sequence of polynomials $P_n(x)$.

So let $\Pi = (\pi_{ij})_{i,j\geq 0}$ be a unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix (indexed by \mathbb{N}) with entries in a commutative ring R: that is, $\pi_{i,i+1} = 1$ and $\pi_{ij} = 0$ for j > i+1. Then let $A = (a_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ be the matrix defined by $a_{nk} = (\Pi^n)_{0k}$. It is easy to see that Ais unit-lower-triangular, i.e. $a_{nn} = 1$ and $a_{nk} = 0$ for k > n. Writing out the matrix multiplications explicitly, we have

(2.7)
$$a_{nk} = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{n-1}} \pi_{0i_1} \pi_{i_1 i_2} \pi_{i_2 i_3} \cdots \pi_{i_{n-2} i_{n-1}} \pi_{i_{n-1}k},$$

so that a_{nk} is the total weight for all *n*-step walks in \mathbb{N} from $i_0 = 0$ to $i_n = k$, in which the weight of a walk is the product of the weights of its steps, and a step from *i* to *j* gets a weight π_{ij} . (Since Π is lower-Hessenberg, these are **Lukasiewicz walks**, i.e. the allowed steps are $i \to j$ with $0 \le j \le i + 1$.) Yet another equivalent formulation is to define the entries a_{nk} by the recurrence

(2.8)
$$a_{nk} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} a_{n-1,i} \pi_{ik}$$
 for $n \ge 1$

with the initial condition $a_{0k} = \delta_{0k}$. We shall call Π the **production matrix** and A the **output matrix**, and we write $A = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)$.

These definitions can be given a compact matrix formulation. Let Δ be the matrix with 1 on the superdiagonal and 0 elsewhere, i.e. $\Delta_{n,n+1} = 1$ and $\Delta_{nk} = 0$ for $k \neq n+1$ (of course it is unit-lower-Hessenberg). Then for any matrix M with rows indexed by \mathbb{N} , the product ΔM is simply M with its zeroth row removed and all other rows shifted upwards. (Some authors use the notation $\overline{M} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Delta M$.) The recurrence (2.8) can then be written as

(2.9)
$$\Delta A = A\Pi.$$

Since A is unit-lower-triangular, it is invertible, so (2.9) is equivalent to

(2.10)
$$\Pi = A^{-1} \Delta A$$

Conversely, it is not difficult to see that for any unit-lower-triangular matrix A, the matrix $A^{-1}\Delta A$ is unit-lower-Hessenberg. It therefore follows that for each unit-lower-triangular matrix A, there is a unique unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix Π such that $A = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)$, and it is given by $\Pi = A^{-1}\Delta A$.

Now let $B = A^{-1}$ be the inverse of A (which is of course also unit-lower-triangular). We then have a one-to-one correspondence between unit-lower-Hessenberg matrices Π , unit-lower-triangular matrices A and unit-lower-triangular matrices B, defined by

(2.11)
$$A := \mathcal{O}(\Pi) := B^{-1}, \quad B := \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1} := A^{-1}, \quad \Pi := A^{-1}\Delta A := B\Delta B^{-1}.$$

In Section 3 we will see how the matrices A, B and Π arise in different characterizations of sequences of monic polynomials.

Remarks.

(1) Production matrices are nowadays widely used in enumerative combinatorics: thus, for instance, the entry for a triangular array in the On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences [53] often gives its production matrix.

(2) Several subclasses of lower-Hessenberg production matrices are of especial combinatorial interest:

- Tridiagonal production matrices correspond to *Motzkin walks* (i.e. the allowed steps are i → j with j ∈ {i-1, i, i+1}) and thence to classical J-fractions [31], as will be explained in Section 2.3.
- Toeplitz lower-Hessenberg production matrices generate Bell-subgroup *Rior-dan arrays*; and more generally, 1-almost-Toeplitz lower-Hessenberg production matrices (i.e. lower-Hessenberg matrices that are Toeplitz except for the zeroth column) generate Riordan arrays. See [8,61,62,69] for introductions to Riordan arrays, and [23,34,65] for the just-quoted theorems on their production matrices.

ALAN D. SOKAL

• Lower-Hessenberg production matrices of the form $\pi_{nk} = (n!/k!)(z_{n-k} + ka_{n-k+1})$ generate *exponential Riordan arrays* [8, pp. 217–218] [55, Theorem 8.2].

(3) When the commutative ring R is equipped with a partial order, production matrices are also a powerful tool for attacking problems related to total positivity [65]. In particular, the total positivity of the production matrix Π is a sufficient (but far from necessary) condition for the total positivity of its output matrix $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$ and for the Hankel-total positivity of the zeroth-column sequence of $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$. See [65] [56, sections 8.1 and 9.2] [21, 55, 64] for precise statements, proofs, and further discussion and applications.

2.3. Classical continued fractions. As preparation for the discussion of branched continued fractions in Section 2.4, as well as for some applications later in this paper, we begin by giving a very brief review of selected aspects of the theory of classical continued fractions (J-fractions and S-fractions). We will follow the notation and terminology used nowadays by combinatorialists [31], as this is the most appropriate for our work; but we will also point out the translation to the formalism employed in the classical analysis literature on continued fractions [20,38,49,54,82] and the moment problem [1,3,60,63,71].

We shall consider continued fractions of either Stieltjes (S) type,

(2.12)
$$f(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n t^n = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\alpha_1 t}{1 - \frac{\alpha_2 t}{1 - \dots}}}$$

or Jacobi (J) type,

(2.13)
$$f(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_n t^n = \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_0 t - \frac{\beta_1 t^2}{1 - \gamma_1 t - \frac{\beta_2 t^2}{1 - \cdots}}}.$$

Here these expressions are to be interpreted as formal power series in the indeterminate t; we do not wish to address questions of convergence. Thus, the continuedfraction coefficients $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_n)_{n\geq 1}$, $\boldsymbol{\beta} = (\beta_n)_{n\geq 1}$ and $\boldsymbol{\gamma} = (\gamma_n)_{n\geq 0}$ are sequences in a commutative ring R, and they determine the sequence $\mathbf{a} = (a_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of Taylor coefficients by formal expansion of the continued fraction. Indeed, it is conceptually simplest to consider $\boldsymbol{\alpha}, \boldsymbol{\beta}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}$ as algebraic indeterminates; then the a_n are

768

polynomials with integer coefficients in these indeterminates:

(2.14)
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n(\alpha) t^n = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{\alpha_1 t}{1 - \frac{\alpha_2 t}{1 - \dots}}}$$

(2.15)
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} J_n(\beta, \gamma) t^n = \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_0 t - \frac{\beta_1 t^2}{1 - \gamma_1 t - \frac{\beta_2 t^2}{1 - \cdots}}}$$

We call $S_n(\alpha)$ the *Stieltjes-Rogers polynomials*, and $J_n(\beta, \gamma)$ the *Jacobi-Rogers polynomials*.

In a seminal 1980 paper, Flajolet [31] gave a combinatorial interpretation of the Stieltjes–Rogers and Jacobi–Rogers polynomials in terms of lattice paths. We recall that a **Motzkin path** of length n is a path in the right quadrant $\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$, starting at (0,0) and ending at (n,0), using steps (1,1) ["rise"], (1,0) ["level step"] and (1,-1) ["fall"]. More generally, a **Motzkin path at level k** is a path in $\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}_{\geq k}$, starting at (0,k) and ending at (n,k), using the same steps. A Motzkin path is called a **Dyck path** if it has no level steps; obviously a Dyck path must have even length.

Theorem 2.1 (Flajolet [31]).

- (a) The Jacobi-Rogers polynomial J_n(β, γ) is the generating polynomial for Motzkin paths of length n, in which each rise gets weight 1, each level step at height i gets weight γ_i, and each fall from height i gets weight β_i.
- (b) The Stieltjes-Rogers polynomial S_n(α) is the generating polynomial for Dyck paths of length 2n, in which each rise gets weight 1 and each fall from height i gets weight α_i.

Proof. (a) For each $k \geq 0$, let $f_k(t)$ be the generating function for Motzkin paths at level k (of arbitrary length) in which each rise gets weight 1, each level step at height i gets weight γ_i , each fall from height i gets weight β_i , and each step of any kind gets an additional weight t. It is a formal power series in the indeterminate t, with coefficients that are polynomials in β, γ .

Now let \mathcal{P} be any Motzkin path at level k; and if it is of nonzero length, split it at its first return to height k, yielding $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}'\mathcal{P}''$. Then \mathcal{P}' is either a single level step at height k, or else a path of the form $U\mathcal{P}_{k+1}D$ where U is a rise $k \to k+1$, \mathcal{P}_{k+1} is an arbitrary Motzkin path at level k+1, and D is a fall $k+1 \to k$. Furthermore, \mathcal{P}'' is an arbitrary Motzkin path at level k. We thus deduce the functional equation

(2.16)
$$f_k(t) = 1 + \gamma_k t f_k(t) + \beta_{k+1} t^2 f_{k+1}(t) f_k(t)$$

or equivalently

(2.17)
$$f_k(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_k t - \beta_{k+1} t^2 f_{k+1}(t)}$$

Iterating (2.17), we see immediately that f_k is given by the continued fraction

(2.18)
$$f_k(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_k t - \frac{\beta_{k+1} t^2}{1 - \gamma_{k+1} t - \frac{\beta_{k+2} t^2}{1 - \cdots}}}$$

and in particular that f_0 is given by (2.15).

(b) This follows from part (a) by setting $\gamma = 0$, renaming β as α , and renaming t^2 as t.

Remarks.

(1) In the function-theoretic literature on the moment problem [1, 3, 60, 63, 71] and continued fractions [20, 38, 49, 54, 82], the generating function for a sequence $\mathbf{a} = (a_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of real numbers is most often written in the form

(2.19)
$$F(z) = \frac{1}{z} f\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{a_n}{z^{n+1}}.$$

This formulation has the property that if **a** is a moment sequence with representing measure μ , i.e. $a_n = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x^n d\mu(x)$, then the Stieltjes transform

(2.20)
$$F(z) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\mu(x)}{z - x}$$

is analytic in the upper half-plane Im z > 0 and has the series (2.19) as its large-z asymptotic expansion, uniformly in each sector $\epsilon \leq |\arg z| \leq \pi - \epsilon$ [63, p. 27].

Given a power series of the form (2.19), the S-type continued fraction is then written in the form [63, p. viii] [82, p. 329]

(2.21)
$$F(z) = \frac{1}{l_1 z - \frac{1}{l_2 - \frac{1}{l_3 z - \frac{1}{l_4 - \dots}}}}$$

(note that l_n is multiplied by z for n odd but not for n even), which is easily seen to be equivalent to (2.12) if we normalize to $a_0 = 1$ (hence $l_1 = 1$) and then set $\alpha_1 = 1/l_2$ and $\alpha_n = 1/(l_n l_{n+1})$ for $n \ge 2$; the reverse translation is

(2.22a)
$$l_{2k-1} = \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_3 \cdots \alpha_{2k-3}}{\alpha_2 \alpha_4 \cdots \alpha_{2k-2}}$$

(2.22b)
$$l_{2k} = \frac{\alpha_2 \alpha_4 \cdots \alpha_{2k-2}}{\alpha_1 \alpha_3 \cdots \alpha_{2k-1}}$$

Likewise, the J-type continued fraction is written in the form [63, pp. viii, 31]

(2.23)
$$F(z) = \frac{\lambda_1}{z - c_1 - \frac{\lambda_2}{z - c_2 - \frac{\lambda_3}{z - c_3 - \frac{\lambda_4}{z - c_4 - \cdots}}}},$$

which is easily seen to be equivalent to (2.13) if we normalize to $\lambda_1 = 1$ and then set $\gamma_n = c_{n+1}$ and $\beta_n = \lambda_{n+1}$.

(2) My use of the terms "S-fraction" and "J-fraction" follows the general practice in the combinatorial literature, starting with Flajolet [31]. The classical literature on continued fractions [20, 38, 49, 54, 82] generally uses a different terminology. For instance, Jones and Thron [38, pp. 128–129, 386–389] use the term "regular Cfraction" for (a minor variant of) what I have called an S-fraction; they call it an "S-fraction" if all $\alpha_n < 0$. They use the term "associated continued fraction" for (a minor variant of) what I have called a J-fraction, and use the term "J-fraction" for 2.23 with $\lambda_n \neq 0$.

(3) It is worth observing that an S-fraction can always be transformed into a J-fraction by *contraction* [82, p. 21] [80, p. V-31]: namely, (2.12) and (2.13) are equal if

(2.24a)
$$\gamma_0 = \alpha_1$$

(2.24b) $\gamma_n = \alpha_{2n} + \alpha_{2n+1} \quad \text{for } n \ge 1$

(2.24c)
$$\beta_n = \alpha_{2n-1} \alpha_{2n}.$$

See [82, pp. 20–22] for the classic algebraic proof; see [30, Lemmas 1 and 2] [29, proof of Lemma 1] [25, Lemma 4.5] for a very simple variant algebraic proof; and see [80, pp. V-31–V-32] for an enlightening combinatorial proof, based on defining a Motzkin path by grouping pairs of steps in a Dyck path. The reverse transformation—from J-fraction to S-fraction—is generically possible if the coefficient ring R is a field, but not in general otherwise.

Let us now generalize these definitions; we concentrate on the case of J-fractions, but similar constructions can be applied to S-fractions. A **partial Motzkin path** of length n is a path in the right quadrant $\mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$, starting at (0,0) and ending at some point (n,k), using the same steps as before. Let $J_{n,k}(\beta, \gamma)$ be the generating polynomial for partial Motzkin paths from (0,0) to (n,k), in which each rise gets weight 1, each level step at height i gets weight γ_i , and each fall from height i gets weight β_i . We therefore have an infinite unit-lower-triangular array $\mathsf{J} =$ $(J_{n,k}(\beta, \gamma))_{n,k\geq 0}$ in which the first (k = 0) column displays the ordinary Jacobi– Rogers polynomials $J_{n,0} = J_n$. It is immediate from the definition of $J_{n,k}$ that the matrix J is the output matrix $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$ corresponding to the tridiagonal production matrix

(2.25)
$$\Pi = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma_0 & 1 & & \\ \beta_1 & \gamma_1 & 1 & \\ & \beta_2 & \gamma_2 & 1 \\ & & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$

that generates Motzkin walks with the given weights [cf. (2.7)]. We then have the following beautiful fact:

Proposition 2.2 $(LDL^{T}$ factorization of the Hankel matrix of Jacobi–Rogers polynomials). *The Hankel matrix of Jacobi–Rogers polynomials,*

(2.26)
$$H_{\infty}(\mathbf{J}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left(J_{n+n'}(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}) \right)_{n,n'>0},$$

has the factorization

where $D = \text{diag}(1, \beta_1, \beta_1, \beta_2, \ldots)$ is the diagonal matrix with entries

$$(2.28) D_{kk} = \prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta_i$$

for $k \geq 0$.

Proof. It suffices to note the identity [2, p. 351] [37, Remark 2.2]

(2.29)
$$J_{n+n',0}(\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\gamma}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} J_{n,\ell}(\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\gamma}) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{\ell} \beta_i\right) J_{n',\ell}(\boldsymbol{\beta},\boldsymbol{\gamma}),$$

which arises from splitting a Motzkin path of length n + n' into its first n steps and its last n' steps, and then imagining the second part run backwards: the factor $\prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta_i$ arises from the fact that when we reversed the path we interchanged rises with falls and thus lost a factor $\prod_{i=1}^{k} \beta_i$ for those falls that were not paired with rises. The identity (2.29) can be written in matrix form as (2.27).

Remarks.

(1) The reversal argument employed in this proof can be rewritten purely algebraically as follows: Note first that the tridiagonal matrix (2.25) satisfies

$$(2.30) \qquad \qquad \Pi^{\mathrm{T}} = D^{-1} \Pi D,$$

where $D = \text{diag}(1, \beta_1, \beta_1\beta_2, \ldots)$. (Here we work in the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\boldsymbol{\beta}, \boldsymbol{\beta}^{-1}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}]$ of Laurent polynomials in $\boldsymbol{\beta}$.) On the other hand, it is a general fact [65][56, Lemma 9.5] that if Π is a production matrix and $\mathcal{O}_0(\Pi)$ is the zeroth-column sequence of $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$, then

(2.31)
$$H_{\infty}(\mathcal{O}_0(\Pi)) = \mathcal{O}(\Pi) \mathcal{O}(\Pi^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

And finally, it is a general fact [65][56, Lemma 8.1] that if M is an invertible lowertriangular matrix satisfying $M_{00} = 1$, then $\mathcal{O}(M^{-1}\Pi M) = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)M$. Putting all this together, we have

(2.32a)
$$H_{\infty}(\mathcal{O}_0(\Pi)) = \mathcal{O}(\Pi) \mathcal{O}(\Pi^{\mathrm{T}})^{\mathrm{T}}$$

(2.32b)
$$= \mathcal{O}(\Pi) \mathcal{O}(D^{-1} \Pi D)^{\mathrm{T}}$$

(2.32c)
$$= \mathcal{O}(\Pi) [\mathcal{O}(\Pi) D]^{\mathrm{T}}$$

(2.32d)
$$= \mathcal{O}(\Pi) D \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{\mathrm{T}},$$

as asserted in Proposition 2.2. Obviously, this proof relies crucially on the fact that the reversal of a Motzkin path is again a Motzkin path, or equivalently on the fact that the production matrix Π is tridiagonal and therefore symmetric up to a diagonal similarity transformation (2.30).

(2) The factorization (2.27) was found more than a century ago by Stieltjes [70,71], albeit without the interpretation in terms of Motzkin paths. More precisely, Stieltjes [70] [71, pp. J.18–J.19] found the analogous factorization for S-fractions. The factorization for J-fractions can be found in Wall's 1948 book [82, Theorem 53.1], among other places.

Taking the determinant of the $n \times n$ leading principal submatrix on both sides of (2.27), we obtain a classical formula [82, Theorem 51.1] for the Hankel determinants of a J-fraction:

Corollary 2.3 (Hankel determinants of the Jacobi–Rogers polynomials). Let $\Delta_n = \det (J_{i+j}(\beta, \gamma))_{0 \le i,j \le n-1}$ be the $n \times n$ leading principal minor of the Hankel matrix $H_{\infty}(\mathbf{J})$. Then

(2.33)
$$\Delta_{n+1} = \beta_1^n \beta_2^{n-1} \cdots \beta_{n-1}^2 \beta_n$$

In particular, if $R = \mathbb{R}$ and all $\beta_i > 0$, then the Hankel matrix $H_{\infty}(\mathbf{J})$ is positivedefinite, which implies that the underlying sequence $(J_n(\boldsymbol{\beta}, \boldsymbol{\gamma}))_{n \geq 0}$ is a Hamburger moment sequence with a representing measure of infinite support [1,3,60,63].

2.4. Branched continued fractions. In this subsection we give a very brief introduction to the theory of branched continued fractions, limiting attention for simplicity to branched S-fractions; our treatment follows [56], where many more details and applications can be found.

Fix an integer $m \ge 1$. An *m-Dyck path* [7, 12, 56, 57] is a path in the upper half-plane $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}$, starting and ending on the horizontal axis, using steps (1, 1) ["rise" or "up step"] and (1, -m) ["*m*-fall" or "down step"]. More generally, an *m-Dyck path at level k* is a path in $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}_{\ge k}$, starting and ending at height k, using steps (1, 1) and (1, -m). Since the number of up steps must equal m times the number of down steps, the length of an *m*-Dyck path must be a multiple of m + 1.

Now let $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_i)_{i \geq m}$ be an infinite set of indeterminates. Then [56] the *m*-Stieltjes-Rogers polynomial of order *n*, denoted $S_n^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})$, is the generating polynomial for *m*-Dyck paths of length (m + 1)n in which each rise gets weight 1 and each *m*-fall from height *i* gets weight α_i . Clearly $S_n^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})$ is a homogeneous polynomial of degree *n* with nonnegative integer coefficients.

Let $f_0(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S_n^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) t^n$ be the ordinary generating function for *m*-Dyck paths with these weights; and more generally, let $f_k(t)$ be the ordinary generating function for *m*-Dyck paths at level *k* with these same weights. (Obviously f_k is just f_0 with each α_i replaced by α_{i+k} ; but we shall not explicitly use this fact.) Then straightforward combinatorial arguments [56, Section 2.3], similar to those used in the proof of Theorem 2.1, lead to the functional equation

(2.34)
$$f_k(t) = 1 + \alpha_{k+m} t f_k(t) f_{k+1}(t) \cdots f_{k+m}(t)$$

or equivalently

(2.35)
$$f_k(t) = \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_{k+m} t f_{k+1}(t) \cdots f_{k+m}(t)}$$

Iterating (2.35), we see immediately that f_k is given by the branched continued fraction

(2.36a)



and in particular that f_0 is given by the specialization of (2.36) to k = 0. We shall call the right-hand side of (2.36) an *m*-branched Stieltjes-type continued fraction, or *m*-branched S-fraction for short.

Remark. In truth, we hardly ever use the branched continued fraction (2.36); instead, we work directly with the *m*-Dyck paths and/or with the recurrence (2.34)/(2.35) that their generating functions satisfy.

We now generalize these definitions as follows. A *partial m-Dyck path* is a path in the upper half-plane $\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N}$, starting on the horizontal axis but ending anywhere, using steps (1,1) ["rise"] and (1, -m) ["*m*-fall"]. A partial *m*-Dyck path starting at (0,0) must stay always within the set $V_m = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N} : x = y \mod m + 1\}$.

Now let $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_i)_{i \geq m}$ be an infinite set of indeterminates, and let $S_{n,k}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})$ be the generating polynomial for partial *m*-Dyck paths from (0,0) to ((m+1)n, (m+1)k) in which each rise gets weight 1 and each *m*-fall from height *i* gets weight α_i . We call the $S_{n,k}^{(m)}$ the **generalized m-Stieltjes-Rogers polynomials**. Obviously $S_{n,k}^{(m)}$ is nonvanishing only for $0 \leq k \leq n$, and $S_{n,n}^{(m)} = 1$. We therefore have an infinite unit-lower-triangular array $\mathbf{S}^{(m)} = (S_{n,k}^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}))_{n,k\geq 0}$ in which the first (k = 0) column displays the ordinary *m*-Stieltjes-Rogers polynomials $S_{n,0}^{(m)} = S_n^{(m)}$.

The production matrix for the triangle $S^{(m)}$ was found in [56, sections 7.1 and 8.2]. We begin by defining some special matrices $M = (m_{ij})_{i,j \ge 0}$:

• $L(s_1, s_2, ...)$ is the lower-bidiagonal matrix with 1 on the diagonal and $s_1, s_2, ...$ on the subdiagonal:

(2.37)
$$L(s_1, s_2, \ldots) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & & \\ s_1 & 1 & & \\ & s_2 & 1 & \\ & & s_3 & 1 \\ & & & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}.$$

• $U^*(s_1, s_2, ...)$ is the upper-bidiagonal matrix with 1 on the superdiagonal and $s_1, s_2, ...$ on the diagonal:

(2.38)
$$U^{\star}(s_1, s_2, \ldots) = \begin{bmatrix} s_1 & 1 & & & \\ & s_2 & 1 & & \\ & & s_3 & 1 & & \\ & & & s_4 & 1 & \\ & & & & \ddots & \ddots \end{bmatrix}$$

Then the production matrix for the triangle $S^{(m)}$ is

$$P^{(m)S}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) \stackrel{\text{det}}{=} L(\alpha_{m+1}, \alpha_{2m+2}, \alpha_{3m+3}, \ldots) L(\alpha_{m+2}, \alpha_{2m+3}, \alpha_{3m+4}, \ldots) \cdots$$
(2.39)
$$L(\alpha_{2m}, \alpha_{3m+1}, \alpha_{4m+2}, \ldots) U^{*}(\alpha_{m}, \alpha_{2m+1}, \alpha_{3m+2}, \ldots),$$

that is, the product of m factors L and one factor U^{\star} [56, Proposition 8.2].

Let us remark, finally, that there is (as far as I know) no analogue of Proposition 2.2 for m-S-fractions with m > 1, since the reversal of an m-Dyck path is not an m-Dyck path.

3. Production matrix for a sequence of monic polynomials

In this section we prove some very elementary—but important—relations between sequences of monic polynomials, the linear recurrences they satisfy, and their dual sequences of linear functionals. All of these properties will be re-expressed in a convenient matrix form, using the theory of production matrices (Section 2.2). We conclude this section with some more delicate matters concerning "expectation values" of products of polynomials, culminating in Open Problem 3.10.

3.1. Linear functionals. Let R[x] be the ring of polynomials in one indeterminate x, with coefficients in R; it is an R-module. (If R is a field, then R[x] is a vector space over R.) A *linear functional* (more precisely, an R-linear functional) on R[x] is a map $\mathcal{L}: R[x] \to R$ satisfying $\mathcal{L}(ap(x)+bq(x)) = a\mathcal{L}(p(x))+b\mathcal{L}(q(x))$ for all $a, b \in R$ and $p(x), q(x) \in R[x]$. To each linear functional $\mathcal{L}: R[x] \to R$ there is naturally associated a sequence $(\ell_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of elements of R, defined by $\ell_n = \mathcal{L}(x^n)$. And conversely, to every sequence $(\ell_n)_{n\geq 0}$ there is associated a unique linear functional \mathcal{L} satisfying $\mathcal{L}(x^n) = \ell_n$, namely $\mathcal{L}(\sum_{n=0}^N c_n x^n) = \sum_{n=0}^N c_n \ell_n$. We call $(\ell_n)_{n\geq 0}$ the *moment sequence* of the linear functional \mathcal{L} .

Now let $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be a sequence of such linear functionals. We form the matrix $A = (a_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ whose columns are the moment sequences of these linear functionals, i.e. $a_{nk} = \mathcal{L}_k(x^n)$. We call A the **moment matrix** for the sequence $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals. We say that the sequence $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ is normalized in case the matrix A is unit-lower-triangular, i.e. $\mathcal{L}_k(x^n) = 0$ for n < k and $\mathcal{L}_k(x^k) = 1$.

3.2. Sequences of monic polynomials. By a sequence of monic polynomials we mean a sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of polynomials (with coefficients in R) such that $P_n(x)$ has degree n and leading coefficient 1. We can assemble the coefficients of these polynomials into a unit-lower-triangular matrix $B = (b_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ by writing $P_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n b_{nk} x^k$. There is obviously a one-to-one correspondence between unit-lower-triangular matrices and sequences of monic polynomials. We call B the coefficient matrix for the sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of polynomials. Now let $A = (a_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ be the inverse matrix to B, i.e. $A = B^{-1}$. Then we obviously have $x^n = \sum_{k=0}^n a_{nk} P_k(x)$.

3.3. **Duality.** Let $\mathbf{P} = (P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of monic polynomials, and let $\mathbf{L} = (\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be a sequence of linear functionals. We say that \mathbf{P} and \mathbf{L} are *dual* to each other in case $\mathcal{L}_k(P_n(x)) = \delta_{kn}$ for all $k, n \geq 0$. The fundamental result concerning such duality is very simple:

Proposition 3.1 (Sequence of monic polynomials and its dual sequence of linear functionals). Given any sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials, there exists a unique sequence $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals that satisfies $\mathcal{L}_k(P_n(x)) = \delta_{kn}$, and it is normalized.

Conversely, given any normalized sequence $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals, there exists a unique sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials that satisfies $\mathcal{L}_k(P_n(x)) = \delta_{kn}$.

The relation between these sequences is: The moment matrix A of the sequence $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ and the coefficient matrix B of the sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ are inverses of each other.

Proof. Using $P_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^n b_{nj} x^j$ and $\mathcal{L}_k(x^j) = a_{jk}$, we see that the condition $\mathcal{L}_k(P_n(x)) = \delta_{kn}$ is equivalent to the matrix equation BA = I. If $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ is a sequence of monic polynomials, then B is unit-lower-triangular, and BA = I has the unique solution $A = B^{-1}$; moreover, A is unit-lower-triangular. And conversely, if $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ is a normalized sequence of linear functionals, then A is unit-lower-triangular, and BA = I has the unique solution $B = A^{-1}$; moreover, B is unit-lower-triangular. \Box

3.4. Linear recurrence \longleftrightarrow production matrix. The next result, which is only slightly more complicated, connects a sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials with the unique linear recurrence (of a certain standard form) that defines it:

Proposition 3.2 (Sequence of monic polynomials and its defining recurrence). Given any sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials, there exists a unique unitlower-Hessenberg matrix $\Pi = (\pi_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ such that

(3.1)
$$P_{n+1}(x) = (x - \pi_{nn})P_n(x) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \pi_{nk}P_k(x)$$

or equivalently

(3.2)
$$xP_n(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \pi_{nk} P_k(x)$$

And conversely, given any unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix $\Pi = (\pi_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$, there exists a unique sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of polynomials satisfying (3.1)/(3.2) with the initial condition $P_0(x) = 1$, and it is monic.

The relation between these objects is: The coefficient matrix B of the sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ satisfies $B = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$ or equivalently $\Pi = B\Delta B^{-1}$.

Proof. Let $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of monic polynomials with coefficient matrix *B*. Substituting $P_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^n b_{nj} x^j$ into (3.2) and extracting the coefficient of x^j , we see that (3.2) is equivalent to

(3.3)
$$b_{n,j-1} = (\Pi B)_{nj}$$

or in other words

$$B\Delta = \Pi B$$

Since B is unit-lower-triangular and hence invertible, this equation has the unique solution $\Pi = B\Delta B^{-1}$.

The converse assertion is obvious, using (3.1).

Remarks.

(1) This proposition is also stated by Viennot [80, p. III-18, Proposition III.7], where a combinatorial proof is sketched; by Yang [85, Theorem 2.3]; by Cheon and Kim [13, Theorem 4.1]; by Verde-Star [79, Theorem 2.1]; and by Costabile, Gualtieri and Napoli [16, Theorem 4.2].

(2) The recurrence (3.2) can also be written in vector form as $x\mathbf{P} = \Pi\mathbf{P}$, where **P** is the column vector whose entries are the sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$. Iterating this, we see that $x^r\mathbf{P} = \Pi^r\mathbf{P}$ for any integer $r \geq 0$, or concretely

(3.5)
$$x^r P_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n+r} (\Pi^r)_{nj} P_j(x).$$

It then follows that for any polynomial q(x) we have

(3.6)
$$q(x)P_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n+\deg q} (q(\Pi))_{nj} P_j(x).$$

The monic polynomials $P_n(x)$ defined by the recurrence (3.1) are also the characteristic polynomials of the leading principal submatrices of the production matrix Π . To state this result, let us introduce notation as follows: For any matrix $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j\geq 0}$, we write $A_n = (a_{ij})_{0\leq i,j\leq n-1}$ for its $n \times n$ leading principal submatrix, and $\Delta_n(A) = \det A_n$ for its $n \times n$ leading principal minor, with the convention $\Delta_0(A) = 1$. When the matrix is lower-Hessenberg, these leading principal minors satisfy a recurrence that is reasonably well known [32, pp. 251–252] [84, pp. 410– 411], though perhaps not as well known as it should be:

Lemma 3.3 (Leading principal minors of a lower-Hessenberg matrix).

The leading principal minors $\Delta_n(H)$ of a lower-Hessenberg matrix $H = (h_{ij})_{i,j\geq 0}$ satisfy the recurrence

(3.7)
$$\Delta_n = \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{n-1-j} h_{n-1,j} \left(\prod_{i=j}^{n-2} h_{i,i+1} \right) \Delta_j.$$

Proof. Laplace-expand det H_n in the last (i.e. (n-1)st) row. When row n-1 and column j are deleted from H_n , what remains is

(3.8)
$$\begin{bmatrix} H_j \\ \times \cdots \times & h_{j,j+1} \\ \times \cdots & \times & \times & h_{j+1,j+2} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ \times \cdots & \times & \times & \times & \cdots & h_{n-2,n-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

(blank entries are zero), so that its determinant is $\left(\prod_{i=j}^{n-2} h_{i,i+1}\right) \Delta_j$.

For tridiagonal matrices, (3.7) becomes a three-term recurrence that is much better known [35, p. 35].

Proposition 3.4 (Monic polynomials as characteristic polynomials of production matrix). Let $\Pi = (\pi_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ be a unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix, and let $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be the sequence of monic polynomials defined by the recurrence (3.1) with the initial condition $P_0(x) = 1$. Then $P_n(x) = \det(xI - \Pi_n)$.

Proof. Applying (3.7) to the matrix $H = xI - \Pi$, we obtain

(3.9)
$$\Delta_n = (x - \pi_{n-1,n-1})\Delta_{n-1} - \sum_{j=0}^{n-2} \pi_{n-1,j}\Delta_j$$

which matches the recurrence (3.1).

Remarks.

(1) When the matrix Π is tridiagonal, this result is classical [14, p. 26, Exercise 4.12] [36, p. 24, Theorem 2.2.4].¹

(2) The general case of Proposition 3.4 is also known: see, for instance, [19, eq. (2.8) ff.], [85, Theorem 2.3], [79, Corollary 3.1] and [16, Theorem 4.4]; see also [13, Theorem 3.1].

(3) When $R = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} , it follows from Proposition 3.4 that the zeros of $P_n(x)$ are the eigenvalues of Π_n . This suggests that the asymptotic zero distribution of the polynomials $P_n(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ should be related to the spectral properties of the infinite matrix Π acting on a suitable space of sequences (for instance, $\ell^2(\mathbb{N})$). See e.g. [6,39,40,58,87].

Finally, the recurrence (3.1) also leads to a combinatorial formula, due to Viennot [80, p. III-16], for the matrix elements of $B = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$ in terms of those of Π :

Corollary 3.5 (Viennot [80]). Let $\Pi = (\pi_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ be a unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix, and let $B = (b_{nj})_{n,j\geq 0}$ be given by $B = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$. Then b_{nj} is the sum over partitions of $\{0, 1, \ldots, n-1\}$ into zero or more intervals $[k, \ell]$ $(k \leq \ell)$ and exactly j empty sites, with a weight $-\pi_{\ell k}$ for each interval $[k, \ell]$.²

Proof. Write \hat{b}_{nj} for the quantity defined in the Corollary, and define $\hat{P}_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^n \hat{b}_{nj} x^j$. Then $\hat{P}_n(x)$ is the sum over partitions of $\{0, 1, \ldots, n-1\}$ into zero or more intervals $[k, \ell]$ $(k \leq \ell)$ and zero or more empty sites, with a weight $-\pi_{\ell k}$ for each interval $[k, \ell]$ and a weight x for each empty site. And it is easy to see, by considering the status of the vertex n in $\hat{P}_{n+1}(x)$, that the sequence $(\hat{P}_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ satisfies the same recurrence (3.1) as is satisfied by $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$, with the same initial condition $\hat{P}_0(x) = P_0(x) = 1$. So $\hat{P}_n(x) = P_n(x)$.

¹I thank Alex Dyachenko for drawing my attention to this classical result, which inspired the generalization presented in Proposition 3.4.

²Viennot [80, p. III-16] inadvertently omitted the minus sign in front of $\pi_{\ell k}$ in this formula. But this was clearly an oversight, as he had the minus sign correct in the tridiagonal case [80, p. I-9].

3.5. Summary. To summarize the results obtained thus far: There is a one-to-one correspondence between sequences $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials (with coefficient matrix B), their dual sequences $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals (with moment matrix A), and their defining linear recurrences (3.1)/(3.2) (with production matrix Π); and these correspondences are given by (2.11).

3.6. Expectation values of products. Fix now a unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix II: this defines (by Proposition 3.2) a sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials with coefficient matrix $B = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$, which in turn defines (by Proposition 3.1) a dual sequence $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals with moment matrix $A = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)$. Our goal is to find a general combinatorial or algebraic formula for quantities of the form $\mathcal{L}_k(q(x)P_m(x)P_n(x))$, where q(x) is a polynomial, in terms of the coefficients II. By analogy to probability theory, we refer colloquially to quantities like $\mathcal{L}_k(q(x)P_m(x)P_n(x))$ as "expectation values".

In the tridiagonal case with k = 0, Viennot [80, p. I-15, Proposition I.17] found a beautiful formula for these expectation values:

Proposition 3.6 (Viennot [80]). When the unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix Π is tridiagonal, we have

(3.10)
$$\mathcal{L}_0(q(x)P_m(x)P_n(x)) = \pi_{10}\pi_{21}\cdots\pi_{n,n-1}(q(\Pi))_{mn}$$

for any polynomial q(x). In particular, when q(x) = 1 we have the orthogonality relation

(3.11)
$$\mathcal{L}_0(P_m(x)P_n(x)) = h_n \delta_{mn}$$

with the normalizing constant $h_n = \pi_{10}\pi_{21}\cdots\pi_{n,n-1}$.

Please note [80, p. I-15] that the right-hand side of (3.10) with $q(x) = x^r$, namely $\pi_{10}\pi_{21}\cdots\pi_{n,n-1}(\Pi^r)_{mn}$, can be interpreted as the total weight for Motzkin paths of length r+m+n from height $0 \to 0$ in which the first m steps are "up" steps (getting weight 1) and the last n steps are "down" steps (getting weight $\pi_{n,n-1}\cdots\pi_{10}$). Now, in a Motzkin path that starts and ends at the same height, each "up" step $i \to i+1$ can be paired with a "down" step $i+1 \to i$; it follows that the weight of such a path equals the weight of the reversed path. These considerations show that the right-hand side of (3.10) is indeed symmetric in $m \leftrightarrow n$.

Viennot [80, pp. I-16–I-19] proved Proposition 3.6 by a rather intricate combinatorial argument; here we give a simple algebraic proof:

Proof of Proposition 3.6. Let $\ell = (\ell_n)_{n \geq 0}$ be the moment sequence of the linear functional \mathcal{L}_0 , i.e.

(3.12)
$$\ell_n = \mathcal{L}_0(x^n) = a_{n0} = (\Pi^n)_{00}.$$

And let $H_{\infty}(\mathbf{l}) = (\ell_{i+j})_{i,j\geq 0}$ be the Hankel matrix associated to the sequence **l**. Since the unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix Π is tridiagonal, it is of the form (2.25) with $\gamma_n = \pi_{nn}$ and $\beta_n = \pi_{n,n-1}$. Proposition 2.2 therefore gives

$$H_{\infty}(\mathbf{l}) = ADA^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

where $D = \text{diag}(1, \beta_1, \beta_1, \beta_2, \ldots)$. Since $B = A^{-1}$, we can rewrite this as

$$(3.14) BH_{\infty}(\mathbf{l})B^{\mathrm{T}} = D,$$

or concretely

(3.15)
$$\sum_{i,j=0}^{\infty} b_{mi} b_{nj} \ell_{i+j} = \beta_1 \cdots \beta_n \delta_{mn}.$$

But the left-hand side of (3.15) is exactly $\mathcal{L}_0(P_m(x)P_n(x))$. This proves (3.11). If we further left-multiply (3.14) by $q(\Pi)$, we obtain

(3.16)
$$q(\Pi)BH_{\infty}(\mathbf{l})B^{\mathrm{T}} = q(\Pi)D,$$

or concretely

(3.17)
$$\sum_{i,j,m'=0}^{\infty} (q(\Pi))_{mm'} b_{m'i} b_{nj} \ell_{i+j} = (q(\Pi))_{mn} \beta_1 \cdots \beta_n$$

But, using (3.6), we see that the left-hand side of (3.17) is exactly $\mathcal{L}_0(q(x)P_m(x)P_n(x))$.

Hélder Lima [45] has pointed out to me that Proposition 3.6 can be extended to $k \neq 0$ as follows:

Proposition 3.7. When the unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix Π is tridiagonal, we have

(3.18)
$$\mathcal{L}_k(q(x)) = h_k^{-1} \mathcal{L}_0(q(x) P_k(x))$$

and hence

(3.19)
$$\mathcal{L}_k(q(x)P_m(x)P_n(x)) = h_k^{-1}h_n(q(\Pi)P_k(\Pi))_{mn}$$

for any polynomial q(x), where $h_n = \pi_{10}\pi_{21}\cdots\pi_{n,n-1}$.

Proof. Put m = 0 in (3.10), rename n as k, and take $q(x) = x^n$: this gives

(3.20)
$$\mathcal{L}_0(x^n P_k(x)) = h_k(\Pi^n)_{0k} = h_k a_{nk} = h_k \mathcal{L}_k(x^n).$$

It follows that

(3.21)
$$\mathcal{L}_0(q(x)P_k(x)) = h_k \mathcal{L}_k(q(x))$$

for any polynomial q(x). This proves (3.18). Then replace q(x) by $q(x)P_m(x)P_n(x)$ and use (3.10); this proves (3.19).

Remark. The meaning of h_k^{-1} in the formulae (3.18) and (3.19) requires some clarification. The formulae obviously hold if h_k is invertible in the ring R. In particular this is the case if we consider $\mathbf{\Pi} = \{\pi_{ij}\}_{i \ge j \ge 0}$ to be indeterminates and we work in the ring $\mathbb{Z}[\mathbf{\Pi}, \mathbf{\Pi}^{-1}]$ of Laurent polynomials. Now suppose that $k \le n$: then both sides of (3.19) are in fact polynomials in $\mathbf{\Pi}$, so the identity holds when the π_{ij} are specialized to arbitrary elements in an arbitrary commutative ring. I am not sure what happens when k > n.

We would now like to generalize these results to the non-tridiagonal case. (Viennot [80, top p. V-41] alludes to this as an open problem.) For the moment I have only the following result:

780

Theorem 3.8. With $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ and $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ defined as above, we have

(3.22)
$$\mathcal{L}_k(x^\ell P_n(x)) = (\Pi^\ell)_{nk}$$

and more generally

(3.23a)
$$\mathcal{L}_{k}(x^{\ell}P_{m}(x)P_{n}(x)) = \sum_{j=0}^{m} b_{mj}(\Pi^{j+\ell})_{nk}$$

$$(3.23b) \qquad \qquad = (BH_k^{(\ell)}B^{\mathrm{T}})_{mn},$$

where $H_k^{(\ell)}$ is the ℓ -shifted Hankel matrix of the k^{th} column of A:

(3.24)
$$(H_k^{(\ell)})_{ij} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} a_{i+j+\ell,k} = (\Pi^{i+j+\ell})_{0k}$$

Proof. Since $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ and $(\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ are a dual pair, we have $\mathcal{L}_k(P_n(x)) = \delta_{kn}$. Applying \mathcal{L}_k to (3.5), we obtain $\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_n(x)) = (\Pi^{\ell})_{nk}$; this proves (3.22). Now use $P_m(x) = \sum_{j=0}^m b_{mj}x^j$; inserting this into (3.22) gives (3.23a).

On the other hand, we have $\mathcal{L}_k(x^n) = a_{nk}$. Inserting the representing equation in terms of B for both $P_m(x)$ and $P_n(x)$, we have

(3.25a)
$$\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_m(x)P_n(x)) = \mathcal{L}_k\left(\sum_{i=0}^m \sum_{j=0}^n b_{mi}b_{nj}x^{i+j+\ell}\right)$$

(3.25b)
$$= \sum_{i=0}^{m} \sum_{j=0}^{n} b_{mi} b_{nj} a_{i+j+\ell,k}$$

$$(3.25c) \qquad \qquad = (BH_k^{(\ell)}B^{\mathrm{T}})_{mn}$$

when $H_k^{(\ell)}$ is defined by 3.24. This proves (3.23b).

Remark. The identity (3.22) is contained in the thesis of Roblet [59, p. 153, Proposition 78] in the special case where Π is (d, 1)-banded and $0 \le k \le d-1$ (but this is no real loss of generality, since we can take $d \to \infty$). Roblet's proof was combinatorial, following the model of Viennot [80, pp. I-15–I.19].

It is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.8 that certain matrix elements have to vanish:

Corollary 3.9. In the situation of Theorem 3.8:

- (a) $\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_m(x)P_n(x)) = 0$ whenever $k > \ell + m + n$.
- (b) If Π is (d, 1)-banded [that is, $\pi_{nk} = 0$ whenever k < n d], then

$$\mathcal{L}_k(x^\ell P_m(x)P_n(x)) = 0$$

whenever $k < n - d(\ell + m)$ or $k < m - d(\ell + n)$.

Conversely, if $\mathcal{L}_k(xP_n(x)) = 0$ whenever k < n-d [this is the $\ell = 1$, m = 0 case of (b)], then Π is (d, 1)-banded.

Proof. (a) is an immediate consequence of (3.23a) together with the facts that B is lower-triangular and Π is lower-Hessenberg.

(b) The vanishing for $k < n - d(\ell + m)$ is likewise an immediate consequence of (3.23a) together with the facts that B is lower-triangular and Π is (d, 1)-banded.

The vanishing for $k < m - d(\ell + n)$ then follows from the symmetry $m \leftrightarrow n$ of the left-hand side of (3.23a).

The converse assertion follows trivially from (3.22).

In particular, if Π is (d, 1)-banded, then $\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_n(x)) = 0$ whenever $n > d\ell + k$. So the sequence $(P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ is *d***-orthogonal** with respect to the sequence $\mathcal{L}_0, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_{d-1}$ of linear forms, in the sense defined in the Introduction. But in fact this vanishing for $n > d\ell + k$ holds for all $k \geq 0$, not just for $k \leq d-1$.

Unfortunately equation (3.23a) is not very nice, because it is not manifestly symmetric in $m \leftrightarrow n$; moreover, it is not expressed solely in terms of Π . The equation (3.23b) has the $m \leftrightarrow n$ symmetry, but it is still not expressed solely in terms of Π . Combining (3.23a) with Corollary 3.5 gives an explicit formula for $\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_m(x)P_n(x))$ in terms of the matrix elements of Π ; but this formula is rather complicated, and it also fails to make manifest the symmetry $m \leftrightarrow n$. Combining (3.23b) and (3.24) with Corollary 3.5 gives an even more complicated formula for $\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_m(x)P_n(x))$ in terms of the matrix elements of Π , which at least is manifestly symmetric in $m \leftrightarrow n$. But none of these formulae seem really satisfactory. What we really want is something that looks more like Propositions 3.6 and 3.7 and that reduces to them when Π is tridiagonal. My hope is that there might be some cancellations between terms in the expansion of (3.23a), so that the final result can perhaps be stated in a simpler way. I therefore conclude by stating the main unsolved problem of this paper:

Open Problem 3.10. Find a more satisfactory formula for $\mathcal{L}_k(x^{\ell}P_m(x)P_n(x))$ ideally one that resembles Propositions 3.6 and 3.7 and that reduces to them when Π is tridiagonal. Even the special case $k = \ell = 0$ would be of great interest.

4. Sequence of monic polynomials orthogonal to a sequence of Linear functionals

Let $\mathbf{\Gamma} = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be a sequence of linear functionals on R[x], with moment matrix $\Gamma = (\gamma_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ given by $\gamma_{nk} = \Gamma_k(x^n)$. And let $\mathbf{P} = (P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of monic polynomials, with unit-lower-triangular coefficient matrix $B = (b_{nj})_{n,j\geq 0}$ given by $P_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^n b_{nj} x^j$. We say that \mathbf{P} is orthogonal to Γ in case each $P_n(x)$ is orthogonal to Γ_k for $0 \leq k \leq n-1$, i.e. $\Gamma_k(P_n(x)) = 0$ for $0 \leq k \leq n-1$. Since

(4.1)
$$\Gamma_k(P_n(x)) = \sum_{j=0}^n b_{nj} \gamma_{jk} = (B\Gamma)_{nk},$$

we see that **P** is orthogonal to Γ if and only if $B\Gamma$ vanishes below the diagonal, or in other words $B\Gamma$ is an upper-triangular matrix U, or equivalently $\Gamma = B^{-1}U$. We record this simple fact:

Proposition 4.1 (Orthogonality between a sequence of linear functionals and a sequence of monic polynomials). Let $\Gamma = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be a sequence of linear functionals on R[x], with moment matrix Γ ; and let $\mathbf{P} = (P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of monic polynomials, with unit-lower-triangular coefficient matrix B. Then \mathbf{P} is orthogonal to Γ if and only if the matrix $B\Gamma$ is upper-triangular, or equivalently if there exists an upper-triangular matrix U such that $\Gamma = B^{-1}U$.

We can interpret this result in two ways, depending on whether we start from Γ or from **P**:

Starting from Γ . Suppose that the moment matrix Γ has a factorization $\Gamma = LU$ where L is unit-lower-triangular and U is upper-triangular. Then $B = L^{-1}$ is the coefficient matrix for a sequence \mathbf{P} of monic polynomials that is orthogonal to Γ . Furthermore, the sequence $\mathbf{L} = (\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals dual to \mathbf{P} (given by Proposition 3.1) then has moment matrix $A = B^{-1} = L$. It follows that $\Gamma_k = \sum_{j=0}^k (U^T)_{kj} \mathcal{L}_j$; and if the diagonal elements of U are invertible, then $\mathcal{L}_k = \sum_{j=0}^k (U^{-T})_{kj} \Gamma_j$. In other words, each Γ_k is a linear combination of $\mathcal{L}_0, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k$; and if the diagonal elements of U are invertible, then each \mathcal{L}_k is a special linear combination of $\Gamma_0, \ldots, \Gamma_k$, namely, one that makes the first k elements of its moment sequence zero and the next element 1.

Starting from P. Let $\mathbf{P} = (P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be a sequence of monic polynomials, with coefficient matrix B. Then there is a *canonically associated* sequence of linear functionals with respect to which \mathbf{P} is orthogonal, namely, the dual sequence $\mathbf{L} = (\mathcal{L}_k)_{k\geq 0}$, with moment matrix $A = B^{-1}$. But \mathbf{P} is also orthogonal with respect to any sequence $\mathbf{\Gamma} = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals whose moment matrix Γ is of the form $\Gamma = AU$, where U is any upper-triangular matrix; or in other words, each Γ_k is an arbitrary linear combination of $\mathcal{L}_0, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k$.

Remark. When $R = \mathbb{R}$, it is often the case in applications that \mathcal{L}_0 is the moment functional of a positive measure. But \mathcal{L}_k for $k \geq 1$ cannot be the moment functional of a positive measure, because the zeroth component of its moment sequence vanishes but the sequence is not identically zero (since the kth component is 1). Analyst readers may be interested in the following problem: Given a unit-lowertriangular matrix A whose zeroth column is the moment sequence of a positive measure, find an upper-triangular matrix U such that every column of $\Gamma = AU$ is the moment sequence of a positive measure; or in other words, find linear combinations Γ_k of $\mathcal{L}_0, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k$ that are all moment functionals of positive measures. This problem of course has trivial solutions: we could take all the Γ_k to be zero, or to be equal to \mathcal{L}_0 . But suppose we further insist that all the functionals $\Gamma_0, \Gamma_1, \ldots$ be linearly independent. Then the problem seems to be nontrivial.

Since Γ_k is a linear combination of $\mathcal{L}_0, \ldots, \mathcal{L}_k$ whenever **P** is orthogonal to Γ , it also follows that the result of Corollary 3.9(b) holds with \mathcal{L}_k replaced by Γ_k :

Corollary 4.2. Let $\Pi = (\pi_{nk})_{n,k\geq 0}$ be a unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix, let $\mathbf{P} = (P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ be the sequence of monic polynomials defined by (3.1)/(3.2) with initial condition $P_0(x) = 1$, and let $\mathbf{\Gamma} = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be any sequence of linear functionals such that \mathbf{P} is orthogonal to $\mathbf{\Gamma}$.

If Π is (d, 1)-banded, then $\Gamma_k(x^{\ell}P_m(x)P_n(x)) = 0$ whenever $k < n - d(\ell + m)$ or $k < m - d(\ell + n)$.

In view of the key role played here by the factorization $\Gamma = LU$ when we start from Γ , it is now appropriate to recall some simple facts concerning the existence and uniqueness of LU factorizations for matrices over a commutative ring [66]. Let us say that a square matrix Γ has a **weak LU factorization** if $\Gamma = LU$ where L is lower-triangular and U is upper-triangular, and an **LU factorization** if $\Gamma = LU$ where L is unit-lower-triangular and U is upper-triangular. We then have [66]:

Proposition 4.3 (*LU* factorization for matrices over a commutative ring). Let Γ be an $n \times n$ matrix with entries in a commutative ring R, and let $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_n$ be its leading principal minors.

- (a) If Γ has a weak LU factorization, then we must have $\Delta_1 \mid \Delta_2 \mid \cdots \mid \Delta_n$, where $a \mid b$ denotes that a divides b in the ring R.
- (b) If Γ has a weak LU factorization in which none of the diagonal elements of L or U is a zero or a divisor of zero, then none of Δ₁,..., Δ_n is zero or a divisor of zero.
- (c) If Γ has a weak LU factorization in which all of the diagonal elements of L and U are invertible in R, then Δ₁,..., Δ_n are invertible in R.

Conversely,

- (d) If none of Δ₁,..., Δ_{n-1} is a zero or a divisor of zero, then Γ has at most one LU factorization. (In particular this holds if R is an integral domain and Δ₁,..., Δ_{n-1} ≠ 0.)
- (e) If $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_{n-1}$ are invertible in R, then Γ has exactly one LU factorization. (In particular this holds if R is a field and $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_{n-1} \neq 0$.)

Since [66] is not yet publicly available, we include a proof of Proposition 4.3 in the Appendix.

Taking $n \to \infty$ in Proposition 4.3(d,e) and applying it to the situation considered in Proposition 4.1, we conclude:

Corollary 4.4 (Existence and uniqueness of a sequence of monic polynomials orthogonal to a given sequence of linear functionals). Let R be a commutative ring, and let $\Gamma = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be a sequence of linear functionals on R[x], with moment matrix Γ .

- (a) If none of the leading principal minors Δ₁, Δ₂,... of Γ is zero or a divisor of zero, then there is at most one sequence of monic polynomials orthogonal to Γ. (In particular this holds if R is an integral domain and Δ₁, Δ₂,... ≠ 0.)
- (b) If all of the leading principal minors Δ₁, Δ₂,... of Γ are invertible in R, then there is exactly one sequence of monic polynomials orthogonal to Γ. (In particular this holds if R is a field and Δ₁, Δ₂,... ≠ 0.)

5. Application to ordinary orthogonal polynomials

Let us begin by showing how the general theory from the preceding section applies to ordinary orthogonal polynomials.

Fix a linear functional \mathcal{L} , with moment sequence $\ell = (\ell_n)_{n\geq 0}$ given by $\ell_n = \mathcal{L}(x^n)$. And let us choose Γ_k to be the k-shift of \mathcal{L} : that is, $\Gamma_k(x^n) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{L}(x^{n+k})$. Then the moment matrix Γ of the sequence $\Gamma = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of linear functionals is the Hankel matrix $H_{\infty}(\ell) = (\ell_{i+j})_{i,j\geq 0}$ associated to the sequence ℓ : that is, $\gamma_{nk} = \ell_{n+k}$. And a sequence $\mathbf{P} = (P_n(x))_{n\geq 0}$ of monic polynomials is orthogonal to Γ in case $\mathcal{L}(x^k P_n(x)) = 0$ for $0 \leq k \leq n-1$, i.e. precisely when \mathbf{P} is a sequence of monic orthogonal polynomials in the usual sense associated to the linear functional \mathcal{L} [14, Chapter 1]. In particular, by Corollary 4.4(b), such a sequence \mathbf{P} exists (and is unique) whenever R is a field and all the leading principal minors $\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \ldots$ of Γ are nonzero.

Let us now relate this to production matrices and classical continued fractions. It is known [82, Theorem 51.1] [80, p. IV-17, Corollaire 7 and p. V-5, Proposition 1] that if R is a field and all the leading principal minors $\Delta_1, \Delta_2, \ldots$ of the Hankel matrix $\Gamma = H_{\infty}(\ell)$ are nonzero, then there exists a classical J-fraction that represents the ordinary generating function of the sequence ℓ that underlies this Hankel matrix, i.e.

(5.1)
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \ell_n t^n = \frac{1}{1 - \gamma_0 t - \frac{\beta_1 t^2}{1 - \gamma_1 t - \frac{\beta_2 t^2}{1 - \gamma_2 t - \frac{\beta_3 t^2}{1 - \gamma_3 t - \dots}}}$$

in the sense of formal power series, with coefficients $\gamma_0, \gamma_1, \ldots \in R$ and $\beta_1, \beta_2, \ldots \in R \setminus \{0\}$. In fact, the J-fraction coefficients are connected to the leading principal minors by

(5.2)
$$\beta_n = \frac{\Delta_{n-1}\Delta_{n+1}}{\Delta_n^2}$$

where $\Delta_{-1} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 1$ [this follows from (2.33)], while the γ_n are given by other determinants involving the moments ℓ [80, Sections IV.3 and V.1].³

This J-fraction has all the properties described in Section 2.3. In particular, it has a tridiagonal production matrix Π in which $\pi_{n,n+1} = 1$, $\pi_{nn} = \gamma_n$, $\pi_{n,n-1} = \beta_n$ and $\pi_{nk} = 0$ for k < n-1 or k > n+1 [cf. (2.25)]. The zeroth column of the output matrix $J = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)$ is the moment sequence ℓ . Furthermore, Proposition 2.2 tells us that the Hankel matrix $\Gamma = H_{\infty}(\ell)$ has the LDL^{T} factorization

(5.3)
$$\Gamma = \mathsf{J}D\mathsf{J}^{\mathrm{T}}.$$

where $J = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)$ is the unit-lower-triangular matrix of generalized Jacobi–Rogers polynomials, and $D = \text{diag}(1, \beta_1, \beta_1\beta_2, \ldots)$. By Proposition 4.3(d,e), this gives the unique LU factorization of Γ , i.e. L = J and $U = DJ^{\mathrm{T}}$. Proposition 4.1 then implies that there is a unique sequence **P** of monic polynomials orthogonal to Γ , and its coefficient matrix is $B = J^{-1} = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$. So the LDL^{T} factorization can be written as

(5.4)
$$\Gamma = ADA^{\mathrm{T}} = B^{-1}DB^{-\mathrm{T}},$$

where $A = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)$ and $B = A^{-1} = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$. (This is the general factorization $\Gamma = B^{-1}U$ found in Proposition 4.1, specialized to a case in which the matrix Γ is symmetric.)

Finally, Proposition 3.2 implies that the orthogonal polynomials obey the three-term recurrence

(5.5)
$$P_{n+1}(x) = (x - \gamma_n)P_n(x) - \beta_n P_{n-1}(x),$$

where the coefficients arising in the recurrence are precisely the same ones that arise in the J-fraction for the moment sequence ℓ . This is, of course, a well-known fact [82, Theorems 50.1 and 51.1] [80, Chapitre V] [15, Theorem 2.3 and Corollary 2.5] [86, Section 5.2.1]. And it is likewise well known that the coefficient matrix of the orthogonal polynomials is $B = A^{-1} = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$ [80, p. III-2, Théorème 1] [86, Proposition 5.12]. But it is pleasing to see all these classical facts come together as consequences of a simple algebraic theory.

³Please note that Viennot's Δ_n [80, p. IV-15, eqn. (17)] is an $(n+1) \times (n+1)$ determinant, hence equal to my Δ_{n+1} .

6. Application to multiple orthogonal polynomials

Let us now apply the general theory from the Section 4 to the multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II along an increasing nearest-neighbor path in \mathbb{N}^r .

If \mathcal{L} is a linear functional on R[x] and k is a nonnegative integer, we denote by $\mathcal{L}^{\sharp k}$ the k-shift of \mathcal{L} : that is, $\mathcal{L}^{\sharp k}(x^n) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{L}(x^{n+k})$.

Now fix an integer $r \geq 1$, and fix linear functionals $\mathcal{L}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}^{(r)}$ on R[x]. (In the analytical setting, we will have $R = \mathbb{R}$, and $\mathcal{L}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}^{(r)}$ will be the moment functionals associated to the positive measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r .) And let $(P_{\mathbf{n}}(x))_{\mathbf{n} \in \mathbb{N}^r}$ be the multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II associated to the linear functionals $\mathcal{L}^{(1)}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}^{(r)}$, which we here *assume* to exist.

Now let j_1, j_2, \ldots be an infinite sequence of elements of $\{1, \ldots, r\}$, and define a sequence $(\mathbf{n}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ of multi-indices in \mathbb{N}^r by $\mathbf{n}_k = \sum_{i=1}^k \mathbf{e}_{j_i}$. They satisfy $|\mathbf{n}_k| = k$ and describe an increasing nearest-neighbor path in \mathbb{N}^r in which the *i*th step is along direction j_i . Now let $\hat{P}_k(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} P_{\mathbf{n}_k}(x)$ be the multiple orthogonal polynomial of type II along this path in \mathbb{N}^r . Let $m_i = (\mathbf{n}_{i-1})_{j_i} = (\mathbf{n}_i)_{j_i} - 1$ be the number of indices j_1, \ldots, j_{i-1} that equal j_i . Then $\hat{P}_k(x)$ is orthogonal to the linear functionals $\mathcal{L}^{\star 1}, \ldots, \mathcal{L}^{\star k}$, where the "new" linear functional appearing at stage k is

(6.1)
$$\mathcal{L}^{\star k} = (\mathcal{L}^{(j_k)})^{\sharp m_k},$$

i.e.

(6.2)
$$\mathcal{L}^{\star k}(x^n) = \mathcal{L}^{(j_k)}(x^{n+m_k}).$$

Now set $\Gamma_k = \mathcal{L}^{\star,k+1}$: we then see that the sequence $\widehat{\mathbf{P}} = (\widehat{P}_k(x))_{k\geq 0}$ is orthogonal to the sequence $\Gamma = (\Gamma_k)_{k\geq 0}$ in the sense of the preceding section.

On the other hand, we know from the general theory of multiple orthogonal polynomials (Section 2.1) that the sequence $\widehat{\mathbf{P}}$ satisfies an (r+2)-term linear recurrence (2.5) with an (r, 1)-banded unit-lower-Hessenberg matrix Π . It follows from Proposition 3.2 that the coefficient matrix of the sequence $\widehat{\mathbf{P}}$ is the unit-lower-triangular matrix $B = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)^{-1}$. Proposition 4.1 then implies that $\Gamma = B^{-1}U = \mathcal{O}(\Pi)U$ for some upper-triangular matrix U; this is the LU factorization of Γ . Thus, Γ_0 is proportional to the zeroth column of the output matrix $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$; and more generally, each Γ_k is a linear combination of columns $0, \ldots, k$ of $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$.

Example 6.1 (Multiple orthogonal polynomials along an axis). If $j_1, j_2, j_3, \ldots = j, j, j, \ldots$, then $\mathbf{n}_k = k\mathbf{e}_j$, and we are in the situation of Section 5 with $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^{(j)}$ and $\Gamma_k = (\mathcal{L}^{(j)})^{\sharp k}$. Then $(\widehat{P}_k(x))_{k \geq 0}$ is the sequence of ordinary orthogonal polynomials associated to the linear functional $\mathcal{L}^{(j)}$.

Example 6.2 (Multiple orthogonal polynomials along the stepline). If j_1, j_2, j_3, \ldots = 1,..., $r, 1, \ldots, r, \ldots$, then $(\mathbf{n}_k)_{k\geq 0}$ is the stepline defined in (2.6), i.e. $\hat{P}_k(x) = \tilde{P}_k(x)$. The sequence $\mathcal{L}^{\star 1}, \mathcal{L}^{\star 2}, \ldots$ is

$$\mathcal{L}^{(1)}, \dots, \mathcal{L}^{(r)}, (\mathcal{L}^{(1)})^{\sharp 1}, \dots, (\mathcal{L}^{(r)})^{\sharp 1}, (\mathcal{L}^{(1)})^{\sharp 2}, \dots, (\mathcal{L}^{(r)})^{\sharp 2}, \dots$$

In the case r = 2, the formulae for \mathcal{L}_0 and \mathcal{L}_1 (but not the higher \mathcal{L}_k) can be found already in the thesis of Drake [27, Theorem 2.4.1].

7. Some Examples

7.1. Bessel K_{ν} weights \Rightarrow Rising-factorial moments. Two decades ago, Van Assche and Yakubovich [76] studied the multiple orthogonal polynomials of types I and II associated to a pair of measures (that is, r = 2) in which the weights are modified Bessel functions of the second kind, $K_{\nu}(x)$ [83, p. 78], multiplied by powers of x. We shall follow their paper closely, but change the notation to make the formulae more symmetrical.

For real numbers $a_1, a_2 > 0$, let μ_{a_1, a_2} be the positive measure on $[0, \infty)$ given by

(7.1)
$$d\mu_{a_1,a_2}(x) = \frac{2}{\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2)} x^{(a_1+a_2-2)/2} K_{a_1-a_2}(2\sqrt{x}) \, dx.$$

This is symmetric in $a_1 \leftrightarrow a_2$ because $K_{-\nu} = K_{\nu}$. The moments of the measure μ_{a_1,a_2} are products of rising factorials:

(7.2)
$$\int_0^\infty x^n \, d\mu_{a_1,a_2}(x) = \frac{\Gamma(a_1+n)\Gamma(a_2+n)}{\Gamma(a_1)\Gamma(a_2)} = a_1^{\overline{n}} a_2^{\overline{n}},$$

where $a^{\overline{n}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} a(a+1)\cdots(a+n-1)$ (see e.g. [83, p. 388]).

Now fix $a_1, a_2 > 0$ and consider the pair of measures $(\mu_1, \mu_2) = (\mu_{a_1,a_2}, \mu_{a_1+1,a_2})$. Let $P_{\mathbf{n}}(x)$ be the (monic) multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II associated to the pair (μ_1, μ_2) , and let $\tilde{P}_n(x)$ be those polynomials on the stepline:

(7.3)
$$\widetilde{P}_{2k}(x) = P_{k,k}(x), \qquad \widetilde{P}_{2k+1}(x) = P_{k+1,k}(x).$$

Then Van Assche and Yakubovich [76, Theorem 4] showed that these polynomials satisfy the four-term recurrence⁴

(7.4)
$$x\widetilde{P}_n(x) = \widetilde{P}_{n+1}(x) + \pi_{n,n}\widetilde{P}_n(x) + \pi_{n,n-1}\widetilde{P}_{n-1}(x) + \pi_{n,n-2}\widetilde{P}_{n-2}(x),$$

where

(7.5a)
$$\pi_{n,n} = a_1 a_2 + (2a_1 + 2a_2 - 1)n + 3n^2$$

(7.5b)
$$\pi_{n,n-1} = n(a_1 + n - 1)(a_2 + n - 1)(a_1 + a_2 + 3n - 2)$$

(7.5c)
$$\pi_{n,n-2} = n(n-1)(a_1+n-1)(a_1+n-2)(a_2+n-1)(a_2+n-2).$$

On the other hand, Pétréolle, Zhu and I have found [56, Section 13], for all integers $m \geq 1$, an *m*-branched S-fraction for the ratio of contiguous hypergeometric series $_{m+1}F_0$ [56, Theorem 13.1]: namely, if we define the polynomials $P_n^{(m)}(a_1,\ldots,a_m;a_{m+1})$ by

(7.6)
$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} P_n^{(m)}(a_1, \dots, a_m; a_{m+1}) t^n := \frac{\frac{m+1}{F_0} \begin{pmatrix} a_1, \dots, a_{m+1} & t \end{pmatrix}}{\frac{m+1}{F_0} \begin{pmatrix} a_1, \dots, a_m, a_{m+1} & -1 & t \end{pmatrix}},$$

then $P_n^{(m)}(a_1, \ldots, a_m; a_{m+1}) = S_n^{(m)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha})$ where $S_n^{(m)}$ is the *m*-Stieltjes–Rogers polynomial and the coefficients $\boldsymbol{\alpha} = (\alpha_i)_{i \geq m}$ are given by

(7.7)
$$\boldsymbol{\alpha} = a_1 \cdots a_m, a_2 \cdots a_{m+1}, a_3 \cdots a_{m+1}(a_1+1), a_4 \cdots a_{m+1}(a_1+1)(a_2+1), \dots$$

⁴The translation from our notation to theirs is $\nu = a_1 - a_2$, $\alpha = a_2 - 1$, $b_n = \pi_{n,n}$, $c_n = \pi_{n,n-1}$, $d_n = \pi_{n,n-2}$.

Note that these α can be interpreted as the products of *m* successive "pre-alphas":

(7.8)
$$\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\text{pre}} = a_1, \dots, a_{m+1}, a_1 + 1, \dots, a_{m+1} + 1, a_1 + 2, \dots, a_{m+1} + 2, \dots$$

In particular, if $a_{m+1} = 1$, then the denominator series ${}_{m+1}F_0$ on the right-hand side of (7.6) becomes simply the constant 1, so that $P_n^{(m)}(a_1,\ldots,a_m;1)$ is simply a product of rising factorials:

(7.9)
$$P_n^{(m)}(a_1, \dots, a_m; 1) = \prod_{i=1}^m a_i^{\overline{n}}$$

(this special case is [56, Corollary 13.3]). Specializing further to m = 2, we obtain from (7.7)

(7.10a)
$$\alpha_{3k+2} = (a_1 + k)(a_2 + k)$$

(7.10b)
$$\alpha_{3k+3} = (a_2 + k)(1+k)$$

(7.10c) $\alpha_{3k+4} = (1+k)(a_1+k+1).$

Then the corresponding production matrix (2.39) [56, Propositions 7.2 and 8.2 and eqn. (7.8)] is quadridiagonal with $\pi_{n,n+1} = 1$ and

(7.11a)
$$\pi_{n,n} = \alpha_{3n} + \alpha_{3n+1} + \alpha_{3n+2}$$

(7.11b)
$$\pi_{n,n-1} = \alpha_{3n-2}\alpha_{3n} + \alpha_{3n-1}\alpha_{3n} + \alpha_{3n-1}\alpha_{3n+1}$$

(7.11c) $\pi_{n,n-2} = \alpha_{3n-4} \alpha_{3n-2} \alpha_{3n}$

provided that we make the convention $\alpha_0 = \alpha_1 = 0.5$ The formulae (7.10) satisfy this convention, and substituting (7.10) into (7.11) gives precisely (7.5).

In fact, we can go farther and compute the full output matrix $\mathcal{O}(\Pi)$, i.e. compute the generalized 2-Stieltjes–Rogers polynomials $S_{n,k}^{(2)}(\alpha)$ for the coefficients α given by (7.10). This was not done in [56], but we can do it here:

Proposition 7.1 (Generalized 2-Stieltjes–Rogers polynomials associated to the rising-factorial moments). The output matrix $\mathcal{O}(\Pi) = \mathsf{S}^{(2)}(\alpha)$ corresponding to the production matrix (7.5) is

(7.12)
$$S_{n,k}^{(2)}(\boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \binom{n}{k} (a_1 + k)^{\overline{n-k}} (a_2 + k)^{\overline{n-k}}.$$

⁵If α_{3n} and α_{3n+1} are given by polynomial expressions in *n* that do *not* vanish when n = 0, then $\pi_{n,n}$ (resp. $\pi_{n,n-1}$) is given by the corresponding polynomial expression *plus* a correction term proportional to $\delta_{n,0}$ (resp. $\delta_{n,1}$).

Proof. Let a_{nk} be the right-hand side of (7.12); we need to show that it satisfies the recurrence (2.8) when the π_{ik} are given by (7.5). That is, we need to show that

$$\binom{(7.13)}{\binom{n}{k}} (a_1+k)^{\overline{n-k}} (a_2+k)^{\overline{n-k}} = \binom{n-1}{k-1} (a_1+k-1)^{\overline{n-k}} (a_2+k-1)^{\overline{n-k}} + \binom{n-1}{k} (a_1+k)^{\overline{n-k-1}} (a_2+k)^{\overline{n-k-1}} [a_1a_2+(2a_1+2a_2-1)k+3k^2] + \binom{n-1}{k+1} (a_1+k+1)^{\overline{n-k-2}} (a_2+k+1)^{\overline{n-k-2}} \times [(k+1)(a_1+k)(a_2+k)(a_1+a_2+3k+1)] + \binom{n-1}{k+2} (a_1+k+2)^{\overline{n-k-3}} (a_2+k+2)^{\overline{n-k-3}} \times [(k+2)(k+1)(a_1+k+1)(a_1+k)(a_2+k+1)(a_2+k)].$$

This is a tedious but straightforward computation: it is convenient to pull out from the right-hand side a factor $\frac{(n-1)!}{(n-k)!(k+2)!}(a_1+k+2)^{\overline{n-k-3}}(a_2+k+2)^{\overline{n-k-3}}$ and then evaluate the remaining polynomial expression.

Remarks.

(1) Our definition $(\mu_1, \mu_2) = (\mu_{a_1, a_2}, \mu_{a_1+1, a_2})$ is manifestly asymmetric between a_1 and a_2 ; nevertheless, the recurrence (7.5) and the output matrix (7.12) are symmetric in $a_1 \leftrightarrow a_2$. The reason is that if we define $\mu'_2 = \mu_{a_1, a_2+1}$, then μ'_2 is a linear combination of μ_1 and μ_2 (and vice versa):

(7.14)
$$a_1\mu_{a_1+1,a_2} - a_2\mu_{a_1,a_2+1} = (a_1 - a_2)\mu_{a_1,a_2}.$$

It follows that (as mentioned in Section 2.1) the pairs (μ_1, μ_2) and (μ_1, μ'_2) give rise to the *same* collection of multiple orthogonal polynomials $P_{\mathbf{n}}(x)$.

Also, the alphas (7.10) are asymmetric in a_1 and a_2 , but they nevertheless give rise to a production matrix (7.11)/(7.5) and output matrix (7.12) that are symmetric in $a_1 \leftrightarrow a_2$. This is an instance of the nonuniqueness of branched continued fractions [56, Sections 3, 10.1, 12.1, 12.2.1 and 13].

(2) Explicit expressions for the stepline polynomials $\widetilde{P}_n(x)$ can be found [9,17]; they are hypergeometric polynomials ${}_1F_2$.

(3) The work of Van Assche and Yakubovich [76] was subsequently generalized by Kuijlaars and Zhang [44] to general $r \geq 2$: here the measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r have moments that are products of r rising factorials [44, eq. (1.6)], and their densities are expressed in general in terms of Meijer G-functions [44, eq. (1.4)]. The stepline polynomials $\widetilde{P}_n(x)$ are hypergeometric polynomials $_1F_r$ [44, eq. (3.10) and preceding (3.11)] and can also be written in terms of Meijer G-functions [44, eq. (3.10)]. The stepline polynomials $\widetilde{P}_n(x)$ satisfy an (r+2)-term recurrence relation, for which the coefficients are computed explicitly in [44, Corollary 4.2 and Lemma 4.3]. These coefficients presumably coincide with the production matrix obtained from the rbranched S-fraction [56, Corollary 13.3] via [56, Propositions 7.2 and 8.2], but I have not explicitly checked this for r > 2.

ALAN D. SOKAL

(4) More generally, one can consider cases in which the moments of the measures μ_1, \ldots, μ_r are ratios of products of rising factorials, with p factors in the numerator and q factors in the denominator. Then the ordinary generating function of the moments of μ_1 is a hypergeometric function ${}_{p+1}F_q$ with $a_{p+1} = 1$, and the recurrence relation for the stepline polynomials can be compared with the branched continued fractions in [56, Theorems 14.3, 14.5 and 14.6]. In all these branched continued fractions, $r = \max(p, q)$. Lima and Loureiro have considered the cases (p, q) = (2, 1) [47] and (p, q) = (2, 2) [48]; and Lima [46] has very recently considered the case of general (p, q).

7.2. Bessel I_{α} weights \Rightarrow Laguerre moments. For real numbers $\alpha \ge -1$ and $x \ge 0$, define a positive measure $\mu_{\alpha,x}$ on $[0,\infty)$ by

(7.15)
$$d\mu_{\alpha,x}(y) = \begin{cases} e^{-x}{}_0F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} - \\ \alpha+1 \end{array} \middle| xy\right) \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} y^{\alpha} e^{-y} dy & \text{for } \alpha > -1 \\ x e^{-(x+y)}{}_0F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} - \\ 2 \end{array} \middle| xy\right) dy & \text{for } \alpha = -1. \end{cases}$$

(Here the weight function for $\alpha = -1$ is the limit as $\alpha \to -1$ of the ones for $\alpha > -1$.) The moments of $\mu_{\alpha,x}$ are

(7.16)
$$\int_0^\infty y^n \, d\mu_{\alpha,x}(y) = \mathcal{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(x),$$

where $\mathcal{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$ is the monic unsigned Laguerre polynomial

(7.17)
$$\mathcal{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} n! L_n^{(\alpha)}(-x) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} (n+\alpha)^{\underline{n-k}} x^k$$

and $\rho^{\underline{n}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \rho(\rho-1)\cdots(\rho-n+1)$. Indeed, this is nothing other than the well-known integral representation for the Laguerre polynomials [72, Theorem 5.4], (7.18)

$$\mathcal{L}_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x) = n! L_{n}^{(\alpha)}(-x) = e^{-x} x^{-\alpha/2} \int_{0}^{\infty} y^{n} e^{-y} y^{\alpha/2} I_{\alpha}(2\sqrt{xy}) \, dy \qquad \text{for } \alpha > -1,$$

where I_{α} is the modified Bessel function of the first kind [83, p. 77]

(7.19a)
$$I_{\alpha}(z) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(z/2)^{\alpha+2k}}{k!\Gamma(\alpha+k+1)}$$

(7.19b)
$$= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} (z/2)^{\alpha}_{\ 0} F_1\left(\begin{array}{c} - \\ \alpha+1 \end{array} \middle| z^2/4 \right),$$

together with the corresponding limiting formula when $\alpha \to -1$.

Some years ago, Coussement and Van Assche [18] studied the multiple orthogonal polynomials of types I and II associated to the pair of measures $(\mu_1, \mu_2) =$ $(\mu_{\alpha,\xi}, \mu_{\alpha+1,\xi})$ where $\alpha > -1$ and $\xi > 0$ are fixed parameters. (They actually used a slightly different normalization, so that their moments are $\xi^n \mathcal{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(\xi)$ rather than $\mathcal{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(\xi)$: see [18, Lemma 1]. Their *c* is our $1/\xi$.) In particular, Coussement and

790

Van Assche [18] computed explicitly the four-term recurrence relation for the multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II along the stepline [18, Theorem 9]. After translating from their normalization to ours, this four-term recurrence becomes

(7.20)
$$x\widetilde{P}_{n}(x) = \widetilde{P}_{n+1}(x) + \pi_{n,n}\widetilde{P}_{n}(x) + \pi_{n,n-1}\widetilde{P}_{n-1}(x) + \pi_{n,n-2}\widetilde{P}_{n-2}(x),$$

where

(7.21a)
$$\pi_{n,n} = (2n+1+\alpha) + \xi$$

(7.21b)
$$\pi_{n,n-1} = n(n+\alpha) + 2n\xi$$

(7.21c)
$$\pi_{n,n-2} = n(n-1)\xi$$

This quadridiagonal production matrix Π plays a central role in our forthcoming work [21] on the coefficientwise Hankel-total positivity of the Laguerre polynomials. When $\alpha = -1$ (Lah polynomials) it arises from a 2-branched S-fraction, as found already in [55]; when $\alpha = 0$ (rook polynomials) it arises from a modified 2-branched S-fraction (see [21]).

Coussement and Van Assche [18] also gave an explicit formula for the multiple orthogonal polynomials of type II along the stepline [18, Theorem 10 and Corollary 2]. After translating from their notation to ours, it is

(7.22)
$$\widetilde{P}_n(x) = (-1)^n \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} \xi^{n-k} \mathcal{L}_k^{(\alpha)}(-x).$$

It is curious that Laguerre polynomials occur here too.

7.3. Final remarks. I suspect that the foregoing examples are just the tip of the iceberg, and that the connection between multiple orthogonal polynomials, production matrices and branched continued fractions will be fruitful in both directions. For instance, using known techniques (such as vector Pearson equations [9,17,18,26,47,48,76]) it may be possible to devise new examples of multiple orthogonal polynomials; these will then automatically provide a production matrix for the sequence of moments of μ_1 ; this production matrix will in turn automatically arise from a branched J-fraction [56, Sections 4–8], and in some cases this branched J-fraction may arise from contraction of a branched S-fraction [56, Propositions 7.2 and 7.6]. And conversely, combinatorial or algebraic methods leading to new production matrices or branched continued fractions may point the way to new examples of multiple orthogonal polynomials.

Appendix A. LU factorization for matrices over a commutative ring: Proof of Proposition 4.3

If A is a finite or infinite matrix over a commutative ring R, we denote by A_k its $k \times k$ leading principal submatrix, and by $\Delta_k = \det A_k$ the corresponding leading principal minor, with the convention $\Delta_0 = 1$.

To prove Proposition 4.3, we will need the following simple fact:

Lemma A.1. Let $L = (\ell_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ be an $n \times n$ lower-triangular matrix over a commutative ring R; and assume that none of the diagonal elements ℓ_{ii} is zero or a divisor of zero. Then for each vector $b \in R^n$, the equation Lx = b has at most one solution $x \in R^n$.

Proof. $\ell_{11}x_1 = b_1$ has at most one solution x_1 , since ℓ_{11} is neither zero nor a divisor of zero. Continuing inductively, we see that $\ell_{ii}x_i = b_i - \sum_{j=1}^{i-1} \ell_{ij}x_j$ has at most one solution x_i .

Proof of Proposition 4.3. (a,b,c) Let $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ be an $n \times n$ matrix with entries in R, and suppose that we have a factorization A = LU where $L = (\ell_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ is lower-triangular and $U = (u_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ is upper-triangular. It follows that $A_k = L_k U_k$ for all k, and hence that

(A.1)
$$\Delta_k = (\det L_k)(\det U_k) = (\ell_{11}u_{11})(\ell_{22}u_{22})\cdots(\ell_{kk}u_{kk}).$$

This proves (a,b,c).

(d) Now suppose that A = LU where L is *unit*-lower-triangular. As before we have $A_k = L_k U_k$ for all k; and now $\Delta_k = u_{11}u_{22}\cdots u_{kk}$. Since by hypothesis none of $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_{n-1}$ is zero or a divisor of zero, we can conclude that none of $u_{11}, \ldots, u_{n-1,n-1}$ is zero or a divisor of zero.

We now prove uniqueness by induction on n. The base case n = 1 is trivial. Suppose that the result holds for matrices of size n - 1; we wish to prove it for $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$. Write $A = \begin{pmatrix} A_{n-1} & b \\ c^{\mathrm{T}} & d \end{pmatrix}, L = \begin{pmatrix} L_{n-1} & 0 \\ \ell^{\mathrm{T}} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and $U = \begin{pmatrix} U_{n-1} & u \\ 0 & u_n \end{pmatrix}$. Then A = LU says that

(A.2a)
$$A_{n-1} = L_{n-1}U_{n-1}$$

$$(A.2b) b = L_{n-1}u$$

(A.2c)
$$c^{\mathrm{T}} = \ell^{\mathrm{T}} U_{n-1}$$

(A.2d)
$$d = \ell^{\mathrm{T}} u + u_n.$$

By the inductive hypothesis, A_{n-1} has a unique LU factorization $L_{n-1}U_{n-1}$; and as previously noted, none of the diagonal elements of U_{n-1} is zero or a divisor of zero. Clearly (A.2b) has the unique solution $u = L_{n-1}^{-1}b$. Moreover, Lemma A.1 implies that (A.2c) has at most one solution ℓ^{T} . Then $u_n = d - \ell^{\mathrm{T}}u$ is determined as well. This proves (d).

(e) The existence proof is also by induction on n. The base case n = 1 is trivial; and for the inductive step we again use (A.2). By the inductive hypothesis, A_{n-1} has a unique LU factorization $L_{n-1}U_{n-1}$, and moreover U_{n-1} is invertible (because Δ_{n-1} is). Then (A.2)b-d have the unique solution $u = L_{n-1}^{-1}b$, $\ell^{\mathrm{T}} = c^{\mathrm{T}}U_{n-1}^{-1}$ and $u_n = d - c^{\mathrm{T}}U_{n-1}^{-1}L_{n-1}^{-1}b$.

Acknowledgments

This paper arose out of conversations with Walter Van Assche, to whom I am extremely grateful. I am also grateful to the organizers of the 15th International Symposium on Orthogonal Polynomials, Special Functions and Applications (Hagenberg, Austria, 22–26 July 2019) for inviting me to give a talk there; this allowed me to meet Walter and to discover this unexpected connection between our respective areas of research. In particular, it was during that conference that Walter and I discovered the first example of this connection, namely, the one shown in Section 7.1.

I also wish to thank Alex Dyachenko for helpful conversations and for drawing my attention to the Ph.D. thesis of Drake [27], and Hélder Lima for many helpful comments on several drafts of this paper.

References

- N. I. Aheizer and M. Krein, Some questions in the theory of moments, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, Vol. 2, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1962. Translated by W. Fleming and D. Prill. MR167806
- [2] M. Aigner, Catalan and other numbers: a recurrent theme, Algebraic combinatorics and computer science, Springer Italia, Milan, 2001, pp. 347–390. MR1854484
- [3] N. I. Akhiezer, The classical moment problem and some related questions in analysis, Hafner Publishing Co., New York, 1965. Translated by N. Kemmer. MR184042
- [4] Marie Albenque and Jérémie Bouttier, Constellations and multicontinued fractions: application to Eulerian triangulations (English, with English and French summaries), 24th International Conference on Formal Power Series and Algebraic Combinatorics (FPSAC 2012), Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci. Proc., AR, Assoc. Discrete Math. Theor. Comput. Sci., Nancy, 2012, pp. 805–816. MR2958050
- [5] A. I. Aptekarev, Multiple orthogonal polynomials, Proceedings of the VIIIth Symposium on Orthogonal Polynomials and Their Applications (Seville, 1997), J. Comput. Appl. Math. 99 (1998), no. 1-2, 423–447, DOI 10.1016/S0377-0427(98)00175-7. MR1662713
- [6] A. I. Aptekarev, V. Kalyagin, G. López Lagomasino, and I. A. Rocha, On the limit behavior of recurrence coefficients for multiple orthogonal polynomials, J. Approx. Theory 139 (2006), no. 1-2, 346–370, DOI 10.1016/j.jat.2005.09.011. MR2220045
- [7] Jean-Christophe Aval, Multivariate Fuss-Catalan numbers, Discrete Math. 308 (2008), no. 20, 4660–4669, DOI 10.1016/j.disc.2007.08.100. MR2438172
- [8] P. Barry, Riordan Arrays: A Primer (Logic Press, County Kildare, Ireland, 2016).
- [9] Youssèf Ben Cheikh and Khalfa Douak, On two-orthogonal polynomials related to the Bateman's J_n^{u,v}-function, Methods Appl. Anal. 7 (2000), no. 4, 641–662, DOI 10.4310/MAA.2000.v7.n4.a3. MR1868550
- [10] D. I. Bodnar and Kh. I. Kuchmins'ka, Branched continued fractions (30th anniversary of the first publication) (Ukrainian, with English, Russian and Ukrainian summaries), Mat. Metodi Fiz.-Mekh. Polya **39** (1996), no. 2, 9–19, DOI 10.1007/BF02433965; English transl., J. Math. Sci. (New York) **90** (1998), no. 5, 2324–2333. MR1642218
- [11] D. I. Bodnar and Kh. Yo. Kuchmins'ka, Development of the theory of branched continued fractions in 1996–2016, J. Math. Sci. (N.Y.) 231 (2018), no. 4, 481–494, DOI 10.1007/s10958-018-3828-7. MR3803007
- [12] Naiomi T. Cameron and Jillian E. McLeod, Returns and hills on generalized Dyck paths, J. Integer Seq. 19 (2016), no. 6, Article 16.6.1, 28, DOI 10.9734/bjmcs/2016/30398. MR3546615
- [13] Gi-Sang Cheon and Hana Kim, Representing polynomials as characteristic polynomials via the Stieltjes transform, Linear Algebra Appl. 476 (2015), 184–196, DOI 10.1016/j.laa.2015.03.013. MR3327139
- [14] T. S. Chihara, An introduction to orthogonal polynomials, Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 13, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, 1978. MR481884
- [15] Sylvie Corteel, Jang Soo Kim, and Dennis Stanton, Moments of orthogonal polynomials and combinatorics, Recent trends in combinatorics, IMA Vol. Math. Appl., vol. 159, Springer, [Cham], 2016, pp. 545–578, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-24298-9_22. MR3526423
- [16] Francesco A. Costabile, Maria Italia Gualtieri, and Anna Napoli, Recurrence relations and determinant forms for general polynomial sequences. Application to Genocchi polynomials, Integral Transforms Spec. Funct. **30** (2019), no. 2, 112–127, DOI 10.1080/10652469.2018.1537272. MR3881343
- [17] Els Coussement and Walter Van Assche, Some properties of multiple orthogonal polynomials associated with Macdonald functions, Proceedings of the Fifth International Symposium on Orthogonal Polynomials, Special Functions and their Applications (Patras, 1999), J. Comput. Appl. Math. 133 (2001), no. 1-2, 253–261, DOI 10.1016/S0377-0427(00)00648-8. MR1858284
- [18] Els Coussement and Walter Van Assche, Multiple orthogonal polynomials associated with the modified Bessel functions of the first kind, Constr. Approx. 19 (2003), no. 2, 237–263, DOI 10.1007/s00365-002-0499-9. MR1957385

- [19] Jonathan Coussement and Walter Van Assche, Gaussian quadrature for multiple orthogonal polynomials, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 178 (2005), no. 1-2, 131–145, DOI 10.1016/j.cam.2004.04.016. MR2127875
- [20] Annie Cuyt, Vigdis Brevik Petersen, Brigitte Verdonk, Haakon Waadeland, and William B. Jones, *Handbook of continued fractions for special functions*, Springer, New York, 2008. With contributions by Franky Backeljauw and Catherine Bonan-Hamada; Verified numerical output by Stefan Becuwe and Cuyt. MR2410517
- [21] B. Deb, A. Dyachenko, M. Pétréolle and A. D. Sokal, Lattice paths and branched continued fractions, III: Generalizations of the Laguerre, rook and Lah polynomials, arXiv:2312.11081 [math.CO].
- [22] M. G. de Bruin, Convergence of generalized C-fractions, J. Approx. Theory 24 (1978), no. 3, 177–207, DOI 10.1016/0021-9045(78)90023-0. MR516674
- [23] Emeric Deutsch, Luca Ferrari, and Simone Rinaldi, Production matrices, Adv. in Appl. Math. 34 (2005), no. 1, 101–122, DOI 10.1016/j.aam.2004.05.002. MR2102277
- [24] Emeric Deutsch, Luca Ferrari, and Simone Rinaldi, Production matrices and Riordan arrays, Ann. Comb. 13 (2009), no. 1, 65–85, DOI 10.1007/s00026-009-0013-1. MR2529720
- [25] Philippe Di Francesco and Rinat Kedem, *Q-systems, heaps, paths and cluster positivity*, Comm. Math. Phys. **293** (2010), no. 3, 727–802, DOI 10.1007/s00220-009-0947-5. MR2566162
- [26] Khalfa Douak and Pascal Maroni, Une caractérisation des polynômes d-orthogonaux "classiques" (French, with English summary), J. Approx. Theory 82 (1995), no. 2, 177–204, DOI 10.1006/jath.1995.1074. MR1343833
- [27] Daniel Allen Drake, Towards a combinatorial theory of multiple orthogonal polynomials, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2006. Thesis (Ph.D.)–University of Minnesota. MR2708870
- [28] Dan Drake, Higher-order matching polynomials and d-orthogonality, Adv. in Appl. Math. 46 (2011), no. 1-4, 226–246, DOI 10.1016/j.aam.2009.12.008. MR2794023
- [29] Dominique Dumont, Further triangles of Seidel-Arnold type and continued fractions related to Euler and Springer numbers, Adv. in Appl. Math. 16 (1995), no. 3, 275–296, DOI 10.1006/aama.1995.1014. MR1342829
- [30] Dominique Dumont and Jiang Zeng, Further results on the Euler and Genocchi numbers, Aequationes Math. 47 (1994), no. 1, 31–42, DOI 10.1007/BF01838137. MR1251128
- [31] P. Flajolet, Combinatorial aspects of continued fractions, Discrete Math. 32 (1980), no. 2, 125–161, DOI 10.1016/0012-365X(80)90050-3. MR592851
- [32] Joel N. Franklin, Matrix theory, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1968. MR237517
- [33] D. Gouyou-Beauchamps, Construction of q-equations for convex polyominoes, Paper presented at 10th International Conference on Formal Power Series and Algebraic Combinatorics (FPSAC '98), available on-line at http://www-igm.univ-mlv.fr/~fpsac/FPSAC98/articles. html
- [34] Tian-Xiao He, Matrix characterizations of Riordan arrays, Linear Algebra Appl. 465 (2015), 15–42, DOI 10.1016/j.laa.2014.09.008. MR3274660
- [35] Roger A. Horn and Charles R. Johnson, *Matrix analysis*, 2nd ed., Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2013. MR2978290
- [36] Mourad E. H. Ismail, Classical and quantum orthogonal polynomials in one variable, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 98, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005. With two chapters by Walter Van Assche; With a foreword by Richard A. Askey, DOI 10.1017/CBO9781107325982. MR2191786
- [37] Mourad E. H. Ismail and Jiang Zeng, Addition theorems via continued fractions, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 362 (2010), no. 2, 957–983, DOI 10.1090/S0002-9947-09-04868-5. MR2551512
- [38] William B. Jones and Wolfgang J. Thron, *Continued fractions*, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 11, Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, MA, 1980. Analytic theory and applications; With a foreword by Felix E. Browder; With an introduction by Peter Henrici. MR595864
- [39] V. Kaliaguine, The operator moment problem, vector continued fractions and an explicit form of the Favard theorem for vector orthogonal polynomials, Proceedings of the International Conference on Orthogonality, Moment Problems and Continued Fractions (Delft, 1994), J. Comput. Appl. Math. 65 (1995), no. 1-3, 181–193, DOI 10.1016/0377-0427(95)00109-3. MR1379130

- [40] V. A. Kalyagin, Hermite-Padé approximants and spectral analysis of nonsymmetric operators (Russian, with Russian summary), Mat. Sb. 185 (1994), no. 6, 79–100, DOI 10.1070/SM1995v082n01ABEH003558; English transl., Russian Acad. Sci. Sb. Math. 82 (1995), no. 1, 199–216. MR1280397
- [41] A. B. J. Kuijlaars, A. Martínez-Finkelshtein, and F. Wielonsky, Non-intersecting squared Bessel paths and multiple orthogonal polynomials for modified Bessel weights, Comm. Math. Phys. 286 (2009), no. 1, 217–275, DOI 10.1007/s00220-008-0652-9. MR2470930
- [42] Arno B. J. Kuijlaars, Multiple orthogonal polynomial ensembles, Recent trends in orthogonal polynomials and approximation theory, Contemp. Math., vol. 507, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010, pp. 155–176, DOI 10.1090/conm/507/09958. MR2647568
- [43] Arno B. J. Kuijlaars, Multiple orthogonal polynomials in random matrix theory, Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians. Volume III, Hindustan Book Agency, New Delhi, 2010, pp. 1417–1432. MR2827849
- [44] Arno B. J. Kuijlaars and Lun Zhang, Singular values of products of Ginibre random matrices, multiple orthogonal polynomials and hard edge scaling limits, Comm. Math. Phys. 332 (2014), no. 2, 759–781, DOI 10.1007/s00220-014-2064-3. MR3257662
- [45] Hélder Lima, private communication (8 May 2021).
- [46] Hélder Lima, Multiple orthogonal polynomials associated with branched continued fractions for ratios of hypergeometric series, Adv. in Appl. Math. 147 (2023), Paper No. 102505, 63, DOI 10.1016/j.aam.2023.102505. MR4560438
- [47] Hélder Lima and Ana Loureiro, Multiple orthogonal polynomials associated with confluent hypergeometric functions, J. Approx. Theory 260 (2020), 105484, 36, DOI 10.1016/j.jat.2020.105484. MR4154921
- [48] Hélder Lima and Ana Loureiro, Multiple orthogonal polynomials with respect to Gauss' hypergeometric function, Stud. Appl. Math. 148 (2022), no. 1, 154–185, DOI 10.1111/sapm.12437. MR4429042
- [49] Lisa Lorentzen and Haakon Waadeland, Continued fractions with applications, Studies in Computational Mathematics, vol. 3, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1992. MR1172520
- [50] Pascal Maroni, L'orthogonalité et les récurrences de polynômes d'ordre supérieur à deux (French, with English and French summaries), Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (5) 10 (1989), no. 1, 105–139. MR1425747
- [51] Andrei Martínez-Finkelshtein and Walter Van Assche, What is... a multiple orthogonal polynomial?, Notices Amer. Math. Soc. 63 (2016), no. 9, 1029–1031, DOI 10.1090/noti1430. MR3525716
- [52] E. M. Nikishin and V. N. Sorokin, *Rational approximations and orthogonality*, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, vol. 92, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1991. Translated from the Russian by Ralph P. Boas, DOI 10.1090/mmono/092. MR1130396
- [53] The On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences, published electronically at http://oeis. org, 2023.
- [54] Oskar Perron, Die Lehre von den Kettenbrüchen. Dritte, verbesserte und erweiterte Aufl. Bd. II. Analytisch-funktionentheoretische Kettenbrüche (German), B. G. Teubner Verlagsgesellschaft, Stuttgart, 1957. MR85349
- [55] Mathias Pétréolle and Alan D. Sokal, Lattice paths and branched continued fractions II. Multivariate Lah polynomials and Lah symmetric functions, European J. Combin. 92 (2021), Paper No. 103235, 36, DOI 10.1016/j.ejc.2020.103235. MR4152728
- [56] Mathias Pétréolle, Alan Sokal, and Bao-Xuan Zhu, Lattice Paths and Branched Continued Fractions: An Infinite Sequence of Generalizations of the Stieltjes-Rogers and Thron-Rogers Polynomials, with Coefficientwise Hankel-Total Positivity, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 291 (2023), no. 1450, DOI 10.1090/memo/1450. MR4666039
- [57] Helmut Prodinger, Returns, hills, and t-ary trees, J. Integer Seq. 19 (2016), no. 7, Article 16.7.2, 8. MR3555875
- [58] Leonel Robert and Luis Santiago, Finite sections method for Hessenberg matrices, J. Approx. Theory 123 (2003), no. 1, 68–88, DOI 10.1016/S0021-9045(03)00067-4. MR1985016
- [59] E. Roblet, Une interprétation combinatoire des approximants de Padé, Thèse de doctorat, Université Bordeaux I (1994). Reprinted as Publications du Laboratoire de Combinatoire et d'Informatique Mathématique (LACIM) #17, Université du Québec à Montréal (1994). Available on-line at http://lacim.uqam.ca/en/les-parutions/

- [60] Konrad Schmüdgen, The moment problem, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 277, Springer, Cham, 2017. MR3729411
- [61] Louis W. Shapiro, Seyoum Getu, Wen Jin Woan, and Leon C. Woodson, *The Riordan group*, Discrete Appl. Math. **34** (1991), no. 1-3, 229–239, DOI 10.1016/0166-218X(91)90088-E. Combinatorics and theoretical computer science (Washington, DC, 1989). MR1137996
- [62] Louis Shapiro, Renzo Sprugnoli, Paul Barry, Gi-Sang Cheon, Tian-Xiao He, Donatella Merlini, and Weiping Wang, *The Riordan group and applications*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, Cham, [2022] ©2022. With a foreword by Richard Stanley, DOI 10.1007/978-3-030-94151-2. MR4424807
- [63] J. A. Shohat and J. D. Tamarkin, *The Problem of Moments*, American Mathematical Society Mathematical Surveys, Vol. I, American Mathematical Society, New York, 1943. MR8438
- [64] Alan D. Sokal, Total positivity of some polynomial matrices that enumerate labeled trees and forests I: forests of rooted labeled trees, Monatsh. Math. 200 (2023), no. 2, 389–452, DOI 10.1007/s00605-022-01687-0. MR4544303
- [65] A. D. Sokal, Coefficientwise total positivity (via continued fractions) for some Hankel matrices of combinatorial polynomials, in preparation.
- [66] A. D. Sokal, LU, LDU and LDL^T factorizations for matrices over a commutative ring, in preparation.
- [67] V. N. Sorokin, Hermite-Padé approximants for Nikishin systems and the irrationality of ζ(3) (Russian), Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 49 (1994), no. 2(296), 167–168, DOI 10.1070/RM1994v049n02ABEH002229; English transl., Russian Math. Surveys 49 (1994), no. 2, 176–177. MR1283150
- [68] V. N. Sorokin, Cyclic graphs and Apéry's theorem (Russian, with Russian summary), Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 57 (2002), no. 3(345), 99–134, DOI 10.1070/RM2002v057n03ABEH000512; English transl., Russian Math. Surveys 57 (2002), no. 3, 535–571. MR1918856
- [69] Renzo Sprugnoli, Riordan arrays and combinatorial sums, Discrete Math. 132 (1994), no. 1-3, 267–290, DOI 10.1016/0012-365X(92)00570-H. MR1297386
- [70] T.-J. Stieltjes, Sur la réduction en fraction continue d'une série procédant suivant les puissances descendantes d'une variable (French), Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Sci. Math. Sci. Phys. 3 (1889), H1–H17. MR1508085
- [71] T.-J. Stieltjes, Recherches sur les fractions continues (French), Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Sci. Math. Sci. Phys. 8 (1894), no. 4, J1–J122. MR1508159
- [72] Gábor Szegő, Orthogonal polynomials, 4th ed., American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, Vol. XXIII, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1975. MR372517
- [73] Walter Van Assche, Padé and Hermite-Padé approximation and orthogonality, Surv. Approx. Theory 2 (2006), 61–91. MR2247778
- [74] Walter Van Assche, Hermite-Padé rational approximation to irrational numbers, Comput. Methods Funct. Theory 10 (2010), no. 2, 585–602, DOI 10.1007/BF03321782. MR2791326
- [75] W. Van Assche, Multiple orthogonal polynomials, in Encyclopedia of Special Functions: The Askey–Bateman Project, volume III, edited by M.E.H. Ismail and W. Van Assche (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, to appear).
- [76] W. Van Assche and S. B. Yakubovich, Multiple orthogonal polynomials associated with Macdonald functions, Integral Transform. Spec. Funct. 9 (2000), no. 3, 229–244, DOI 10.1080/10652460008819257. MR1782974
- [77] J. Van Iseghem, Approximants de Padé vectoriels, Thèse de doctorat, Université des Sciences et Techniques de Lille–Flandres–Artois, 1987.
- [78] Anna Leonidovna Varvak, Encoding properties of lattice paths, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2004. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Brandeis University. MR2705747
- [79] Luis Verde-Star, Polynomial sequences generated by infinite Hessenberg matrices, Spec. Matrices 5 (2017), 64–72, DOI 10.1515/spma-2017-0002. MR3602625
- [80] G. Viennot, Une théorie combinatoire des polynômes orthogonaux généraux, Notes de conférences données à l'Université du Québec à Montréal, septembre-octobre 1983. Available on-line at http://www.xavierviennot.org/xavier/polynomes_orthogonaux.html
- [81] Gérard Viennot, A combinatorial theory for general orthogonal polynomials with extensions and applications, Orthogonal polynomials and applications (Bar-le-Duc, 1984), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1171, Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 139–157, DOI 10.1007/BFb0076539. MR838979

- [82] H. S. Wall, Analytic Theory of Continued Fractions, D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., New York, 1948. MR25596
- [83] G. N. Watson, A treatise on the theory of Bessel functions, Cambridge Mathematical Library, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995. Reprint of the second (1944) edition. MR1349110
- [84] J. H. Wilkinson, The algebraic eigenvalue problem, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1965. MR184422
- [85] Sheng-liang Yang, Recurrence relations for the Sheffer sequences, Linear Algebra Appl. 437 (2012), no. 12, 2986–2996, DOI 10.1016/j.laa.2012.07.015. MR2966613
- [86] Jiang Zeng, Combinatorics of orthogonal polynomials and their moments, Lectures on orthogonal polynomials and special functions, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., vol. 464, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2021, pp. 280–334. MR4413014
- [87] Lun Zhang and Pablo Román, The asymptotic zero distribution of multiple orthogonal polynomials associated with Macdonald functions, J. Approx. Theory 163 (2011), no. 2, 143–162, DOI 10.1016/j.jat.2010.08.003. MR2754987

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY COLLEGE LONDON, GOWER STREET, LONDON WC1E 6BT, UNITED KINGDOM; AND DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS, NEW YORK UNIVERSITY, 726 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, NEW YORK

Email address: sokal@math.ucl.ac.uk, sokal@nyu.edu